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TRUSTEES MEETING NOTICE & AGENDA  

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 11, 2014 at 6:30 PM  
LINCOLN HALL MEETING ROOM, 2 LINCOLN STREET 

 
 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO FLAG  [6:30 PM] 
 

 

2. AGENDA ADDITIONS/CHANGES  [6:30 PM] 
 

3. GUESTS,  PRESENTATIONS AND PUBLIC HEARINGS  [6:35 PM] 
 

a. Comments from Public on Items Not on Agenda 

b. Presentation on FYE 13 audit by Fred Duplessis   

c. Discussion with Police Chief Brad LaRose and Edith Klimoski  [6:50 PM] 

       on issue of human trafficking/massage parlors        

4. OLD BUSINESS  [7:15 PM] 
 

a. Adopt FYE 15 Budgets and Capital Programs 
b. Adopt Resolutions to Bond for Capital Projects at a Special Village Election 
c. Draft Scope of Services for Village Center Redevelopment 
 

5. NEW BUSINESS [7:40 PM] 

 

a. Approve and Sign Resolution of Appreciation for Heart and Soul of Essex 
b. Approve and Sign Certificate of Highway Mileage 
c. Approve and Sign Town Road and Bridge Standards 
d. Approve and Sign Certification of Compliance for Road and Bridge Standards 
e. Discuss Draft Annual Meeting Warning 
f. Discuss Community Message Board at Amtrak Station 
 

6. VILLAGE MANAGER’S REPORT                                                                             [8:05 PM] 

 

• Meeting with Mary Morris and Jeff Carr 
• Meeting with Joint Stormwater Policy Coordination Committee 
• Trustees meeting schedule 

 

7. TRUSTEES’ COMMENTS & CONCERNS/READING FILE [8:20 PM] 
 

a. Board Member Comments  
b. Minutes from other boards/committees: 

1. Bike/Walk Advisory Committee 1/13/14 
2. Tree Advisory Committee 1/22/14 
3. Block Party Committee 1/27/14 

c. Notice of Act 250 Application for 4 Pearl Street 
d. Notice from DEC about updating WWTF Operator Certification Regulations    

8. CONSENT AGENDA  [8:25 PM]   
 

a. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting 1/28/14 
b. Approve Warrants including check #10048683 through #10048765  
 totaling $ 157,350.89.  
c. Approve banner application for VT Home and Garden Show 4/11-4/13/14 

 

9. ADJOURN                     [8:30 PM]  
Meetings of the Trustees are accessible to people with disabilities. For information on access or this 
   agenda, call the Village Manager’s office at 878-6944.  Times on the agenda are approximate. 



 

 

 

 

Edith Klimoski, Director 

Introduction 



Our Organization 
 Give Way to Freedom Inc. is a private foundation that 

promotes awareness of Human Trafficking and supports 
projects that provide care and empowerment for people 
who have been trafficked.  Edith Klimoski helped 
incorporate and has been the Director of Give Way to 
Freedom since 2009. 

 We have participated on the Vermont Human Trafficking 
Task Force since its inception 

 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Start by asking students about what they know about Human Trafficking?  Had they heard about it prior to taking this class?




Human Trafficking Defined 

Human Trafficking is recruitment by…  

   deception 

   force 

   fraud 

   coercion  

   … for the purposes of exploitation. 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
First and foremost, Human Trafficking is a Human Rights Issue. Trafficking robs people of their dignity and basic human rights.  It exploits people’s dreams for a better future.



Human Trafficking Facts 
 Worldwide at least 20.9 million people are victims of slavery/forced 

labor today. – International Labor Organization 2012 

 The United Nations estimates that at any given time, 2.5 million are 
victims of human trafficking. 

 The International Labor Organization estimates that today, there are 
1.2 million child victims of human trafficking. 

 Approximately 800,000 men, women, and children are trafficked 
across international borders each year. 

 14,500- 17,500 people are estimated to be trafficked into the US 
each year. – US Department Of State, Trafficking in Persons Report 

 

 



 

Smuggling Vs. Trafficking 

Trafficking ≠ Smuggling 
 



Federal Law Definition - 
Severe Trafficking in Persons  

Labor Trafficking is ... 
 The recruitment, harboring, transportation, provision or 

obtaining of a person, 

 for labor services 

 through the use of force, fraud or coercion, 

 for the purpose of subjugation to involuntary servitude, 
peonage, debt bondage, or slavery. 

   - domestic servitude      - agriculture       - hair/nail salons 
  - construction                 - restaurants        - hotels/cruises   
  - sales/begging      - forestry              - factories        

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Wide variety of trafficking situations.
Men, women and children are trafficked into a variety of different situations such as:  prostitution, forced labor, domestic servitude, military service, forced begging…




Federal Law Definition - Severe 
Trafficking in Persons  

Sex Trafficking is... 
 The recruitment, harboring, transportation, provision or obtaining 

of a person,  

 for a commercial sex act, 

 that is induced by force, fraud or coercion, 

 OR in which the person induced to perform such act has not 
attained the age of 18. 

   - domestic brothels          - street/pimp controlled prostitution 
  - massage parlors           - truck stop prostitution 
  - dancing/strip clubs        - pornography                  
  - escort services  

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Wide variety of trafficking situations.
Men, women and children are trafficked into a variety of different situations such as:  prostitution, forced labor, domestic servitude, military service, forced begging…




Human Trafficking Statistics 
Human trafficking is the 2nd largest criminal enterprise 

worldwide, generating $35 billion annually. 



Key Things to Know & 
Remember  

No force, fraud, or coercion necessary to 
constitute sex trafficking for victims under 
the age of 18 

No movement is necessary 
Trafficking ≠ Smuggling 

 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
There are a variety of physical and psychological reasons why trafficked persons cannot or will not leave a trafficking situation. The violence and intimidation, physical and/or psychological, that characterize human trafficking often means that victims are reluctant to seek help or to identify themselves as victims.

In the book Half the Sky, Nicholas Kristof points out that rescuing girls from brothels is the easy part.  The challenge is keeping them from returning.” Many prostitutes are neither acting freely nor enslaved, but living in a world etched in ambiguities somewhere between those two extremes”.    May often return to the brothel or pimp due to:

	Stigma is community
	Drug Dependency 
	Threats from pimps
	Lack of other jobs
	Low self-esteem
	
	Share the stories of Natalya & Flores




What to Know about Traffickers 
Traffickers can be anyone 

 Male or female 
 Any race or religion 
 Foreign national or U.S. citizen 
 Working individually or in organized crime 

Traffickers Modus Operandi 
 Gain trust and/or leverage over a victim 
 Make a profit  

Presenter
Presentation Notes
There are a variety of physical and psychological reasons why trafficked persons cannot or will not leave a trafficking situation. The violence and intimidation, physical and/or psychological, that characterize human trafficking often means that victims are reluctant to seek help or to identify themselves as victims.

In the book Half the Sky, Nicholas Kristof points out that rescuing girls from brothels is the easy part.  The challenge is keeping them from returning.” Many prostitutes are neither acting freely nor enslaved, but living in a world etched in ambiguities somewhere between those two extremes”.    May often return to the brothel or pimp due to:

	Stigma is community
	Drug Dependency 
	Threats from pimps
	Lack of other jobs
	Low self-esteem
	
	Share the stories of Natalya & Flores




Mindset of a Trafficker: 



Toll of Exploitation 



Self   

Actualization 

Self  Esteem 

Love & 
Belongingness 

Safety & Stability 

Physiological Needs 

3 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
*** Maslow’s Hierarchy of needs, Maslow



Challenges in Identifying Victims 
And Red Flags 

 Captivity/confinement 

 Frequent if not constant accompaniment 

 Use of and/or threat of violence 

 Fear of physical retaliation, death, arrest, 
harm to themselves or to loved ones 

 Shame and self-blame 

 Traumatic bonding to the trafficker 

 Normalization of the exploitation 

 Language and social barriers 

 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
There are a variety of physical and psychological reasons why trafficked persons cannot or will not leave a trafficking situation. The violence and intimidation, physical and/or psychological, that characterize human trafficking often means that victims are reluctant to seek help or to identify themselves as victims.

In the book Half the Sky, Nicholas Kristof points out that rescuing girls from brothels is the easy part.  The challenge is keeping them from returning.” Many prostitutes are neither acting freely nor enslaved, but living in a world etched in ambiguities somewhere between those two extremes”.    May often return to the brothel or pimp due to:

	Stigma is community
	Drug Dependency 
	Threats from pimps
	Lack of other jobs
	Low self-esteem
	
	Share the stories of Natalya & Flores




Challenges in Identifying Victims 
And Red Flags (cont.) 

 Distrust of law enforcement and/or service providers 

 Lack of awareness of available resources 

 Facilitated drug addiction 

 Frequent movement of victims 

 Victim is not doing the job they agreed to 

 Victims may be trained to tell lies  

 A belief that no one can help them – hopelessness & 
resignation 

 

 



 
Indicators Specific to Sex 
Trafficking  

 Tattoos, brands, signs of “ownership” 

 Inappropriate clothing for setting or weather 

 Older boyfriend/close companion 

 Possessions that seem “off” for the situation-  

  clothing, phone, jewelry, cash 

 Age-inappropriate sexual behavior 

 Sexually transmitted infections 

 



Prosecution & Protection 
�Federal and Vermont State Laws to  

 Prosecute the offenders  

• Trafficking Victim’s Protection Act - 22 USC §7101-7112 

• An Act Relating to Human Trafficking - starting at VSA §2651 

• Vermont Safe Harbor Provision 

 Protect victim’s identity and privacy, offer          services 

• Shelter, medical, food, counseling, visas 

• Emergency Services  - Rapid Response Support System  

 

 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Safe Harbour



	
  

	
  

 To: Village Trustees 
  Pat Scheidel, Municipal Manager 
 
 From: Elaine Sopchak, Trustee 
 
 Date: February 11, 2014 
 
 RE: Proposal for Village and Town Land Development Code changes regarding 
  massage parlors 
 
This is a proposal for suggested changes to the Village Land Development Code (proposed 
changes to the Town Zoning Regulations are also included). The purpose of these changes is to 
put in place regulations designed to prevent the establishment of illegal massage parlors within 
Village and Town boundaries, and to provide guidance for Village and Town staff when such 
illegal activities are determined to be occurring. 
 
Change of Use 
Currently in both codes there are categories for Personal Service Establishments, which are 
allowed in several zones with some designated as conditional use. Instead of changing all of 
these uses to conditional, I propose that we add a new category called Massage Establishment. 
This business type would be allowed to exist in the same zones as the current Personal Services 
Establishments, but all uses would be conditional. This would require all new massage therapist 
establishments opening to meet with the Village or the Town to register, and to comply with 
regulations particular to this type of business that would be outlined in a new section in the LDC. 
(A quick review of both charters did not reveal any limitations on either municipality’s ability to 
register businesses.) 
 
Legal Review 
When discussing the matter with Essex Police they expressed concern that whatever changes are 
put in place must contain solid procedures for upholding the regulations, including an appeals 
process and procedures for inspections. They also recommended thorough documentation of all 
individuals involved in the business at the point of permit application. The proposed new LDC 
section contains references to hearing and appeal processes already established in the existing 
codes. Regarding inspections there is nothing specific and it is assumed that, as with other LDC 
code violations, inspection would follow a complaint made to the Village/Town office, or upon 
Village/Town staff noticing a violation while on site for regular business purposes. The Village 
and Town attorneys should give this proposed section a very close review to ensure we are 
operating within legal boundaries. 
  



	
  

	
  

Suggested Location of New LDC Section  
Attached is a new section that I propose be added to both the Village Land Development Code 
and Town Zoning Regulations. In the Village LDC a suitable place for this section would be in 
Section 502 between I and J. In the Town Zoning Regulations it could become Article 4.17. 
 
Future Legislative Action 
You will recall that Tim Jerman has co-sponsored a bill in the state house to require licensure for 
massage therapists. The future of this bill is uncertain, but regardless of the outcome I do not 
think it will have much bearing on what we are trying to do. If the state requires licensure we 
could add that as a requirement for issuing a permit, but I would not repeal a new LDC section 
on massage establishments as attached and replace it with solely the licensure requirement. We 
are hoping to prevent the opening of illegal massage parlors and the spread of the illicit activity 
they bring with them; licensure could be a helpful tool for law enforcement but would not 
prevent the businesses from opening. 
 
Remaining Work 
After the Board’s discussion of this proposed LDC section, it needs to go before the Village 
attorney, and will most likely return to the Board on a future agenda for further discussion before 
we vote on adopting it. Issues that still need to be explored are permitting fees, establishing the 
actual application process and storage of the documents, and determining exactly which existing 
businesses may be affected by the new section.  



	
  

	
  

Massage Establishment 

 

1. DEFINITIONS 

The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in these regulations, shall have the 

meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different 

meaning: 

 

Landlord means an individual or business where any individual, partnership, firm, association, 

joint-stock company, corporation, or combination of individuals, being the owner of a building 

or buildings, has leased the same for a specified term to another individual or business, called the 

“tenant.” 

 

Law enforcement means an appropriate local law enforcement agency in charge of investigation 

and enforcement of criminal laws. 

 

Regulatory agency means a local department or agency that is designated to administer and 

enforce this regulation and can include Village and Town staff and/or the Town Health Officers. 

 

Employee means any person other than massage practitioners who renders any service in a 

massage establishment, but who has no physical contact with customers or clients. 

 

Manager means the person or persons designated by the owner of the massage establishment to 

act as the representative or agent of the owner in managing day-to-day operations with the same 

liabilities and responsibilities. Evidence of management includes, but is not limited to, evidence 

that the individual has power to direct or hire and dismiss massage practitioners and employees, 

control hours of operation, create policy or rules or purchase supplies.  A manager may also be 

an owner. 

 

Massage means the performance of manipulative exercises upon the human body of another by 

rubbing, kneading, stroking, adjusting, compressing, or tapping with the hand or hands or other 

parts of the body, or with any instrument, whether electric, magnetic, mechanical, or otherwise, 



	
  

	
  

or bathing device, with or without supplementary aids, using techniques that include but are not 

limited to Swedish massage, acupressure, reflexology or deep tissue therapy. 

 

Massage establishment means any business where any individual, partnership, firm, association, 

joint-stock company, corporation, or combination of individuals engages in, conducts, carries on 

or permits to be conducted or carried on, for money or any other consideration, administration to 

another person of a massage. The term “massage establishment” is intended to include any 

enterprise which has or purports to have as a principle business activity the providing of massage 

services, regardless of its trade name. 

 

Massage practitioner means any person, male or female, who administers to another person a 

massage, for any form of consideration or expectation of gratuity.  The terms “massage 

therapist” and “massage technician” are included within this definition for purposes of this 

ordinance. 

 

Owner means any person having any ownership interest in the massage establishment. 

 

Person means any individual, partnership, firm, association, joint-stock company, corporation or 

combination of individuals of whatever form or character. 

 

Tenant means an individual, partnership, firm, association, joint-stock company, corporation, or 

combination of individuals, occupying or entitled to occupy a rental premises who is a party to 

the lease or rental agreement for such premises. 

 

2. PURPOSE 

The purpose of this section is to establish regulations for the safe and legal operation of massage 

establishments, and to prevent commercial sexual exploitation, sex trafficking in persons, and 

prostitution within the Village/Town.  

  



	
  

	
  

4. MASSAGE ESTABLISHMENT PERMIT REQUIREMENT 

a. Permit required – No person shall own, operate, control or manage a massage 

establishment within the Village of Essex Junction/Town of Essex without first 

obtaining a massage establishment permit pursuant to these regulations. The permit 

required by these regulations shall be in addition to any other permit or license 

required by the Village of Essex Junction/Town of Essex or the State of Vermont. 

b. Fees – The Board of Trustees/Select Board shall establish, and from time to time may 

amend, the fees for the administration of these regulations. Fees required by this 

section shall be in addition to any required under any other provision of these 

regulations. 

c. Renewal – 

i. A permit to operate a massage establishment shall be valid, unless revoked or 

suspended, for one year from the date of issuance; 

ii. Application for renewal shall be made at least sixty (60) days before 

expiration and shall be in the form and manner as required for the original 

permit; 

iii. Before renewal or denial, Village/Town staff shall review findings as required 

for issuance of the original permit; 

iv. If renewal of the permit is denied, Village/Town staff shall notify the holder 

of the permit in writing, informing of the facts and specific section or sections 

of these regulations upon which this determination was made. 

d. Public hearing for renewal – 

i. Before Village/Town staff acts upon a renewal application, if any violation of 

these regulations, or of state or federal law, was found for the massage 

establishment or an owner of the massage establishment during the current 

permit period, or any complaint against the massage establishment by anyone 

is reported to Village/Town staff during the current permit period, then 

Village/Town staff shall schedule a public hearing to consider the application.  



	
  

	
  

ii. Village/Town staff shall notify the applicant in writing of the time and place 

of the hearing, not less than fourteen (14) days prior to the scheduled date. 

Village/ Town staff shall cause a notice of the hearing to be published on its 

website and in one newspaper of record at least two times in two successive 

weeks, the last publication of which shall be not less than seven (7) nor more 

than thirty (30) days prior to the scheduled date of the hearing. The published 

notice shall specify the name of all applicants, the kind of permit for which 

application is made, the location of the place for the massage establishment 

proposed to be permitted, and the time and place fixed by Village/Town staff 

for the hearing. The applicant shall bear the expense of publication of the 

notice and shall deposit with the application, either in cash or by a certified, 

treasurer’s or cashier’s check or money order made payable to the Village of 

Essex Junction/Town of Essex, the sum of $500 to cover publication and 

hearing costs. 

iii. At the public hearing, the hearing officer shall first hear the applicant and any 

other person in support of the application. The hearing officer shall then hear 

any person opposing the application. After the close of all evidence, the 

hearing officer shall make a written report to Village/Town staff of his or her 

findings of fact and recommend action with respect to the application. 

iv. Village/Town staff shall act upon the application within sixty (60) days after 

the public hearing. Village/Town staff shall give notice of its decision to the 

applicant in writing. 

 

5. APPLICATION FOR MASSAGE ESTABLISHMENT PERMIT 

a. Any person desiring a massage establishment permit shall file a written application 

with Village/Town staff. The applicant shall submit a tender of the permit fee 

required by these regulations, and shall, in addition, furnish the following: 

i. The type of ownership of the business, whether individual, partnership, 

corporation or otherwise; 

ii. The name and designation under which the business or practice is to be 

conducted;  



	
  

	
  

iii. The business address and all telephone numbers where the business is to be 

conducted; 

iv. The following personal information concerning the applicant, if an individual; 

and concerning each stockholder holding more than ten (10) percent of the 

stock of the corporation; each officer and director, if the applicant is a 

corporation; and concerning each partner, including limited partners, if the 

applicant is a partnership; and the holder of any lien, of any nature, upon the 

business and/or the equipment used therein; and concerning the manager or 

other person principally in charge of the operation of the business; and 

concerning all massage practitioners and employees in the business: 

(1) The names, complete residence addresses and residence telephone 

numbers; 

(2) The two (2) previous addresses immediately prior to the present 

residence address; 

(3) Written proof of age 18 or over; 

(4) Height, weight, color of hair and eyes, and gender; 

(5) Two (2) front face portrait photographs taken within thirty (30) days of 

the date of application and at least two (2) by two (2) inches in size; 

(6) The massage or similar business history and experience ten (10) years 

prior to the date of application, including but not limited to whether or 

not such person in previously operating in Vermont or another state 

under license or permit has had such license or permit denied, revoked 

or suspended and the reason therefor, and the business activities or 

occupations subsequent to such action of denial, suspension or 

revocation; 

(7) All criminal convictions, including pleas of nolo contendere, within 

the last ten (10) years, excluding minor traffic infractions, and the date 

and place of each such conviction and reason and sentence therefor;  

(8) A complete set of fingerprints for applicant and all massage 

practitioners and employees taken and to be retained on file by 

Village/Town staff, the cost for which must be borne by the applicant;   



	
  

	
  

(9) Such other information and identification of the person as shall be 

deemed necessary by law enforcement to discover the truth of the 

matters hereinabove required to be set forth in the application; 

(10) Authorization for the Village of Essex Junction/Town of Essex, its 

agents and employees to seek information and conduct an 

investigation into the truth of the statements set forth in the application 

and the qualifications of the applicant for the permit; 

(11) The names and addresses of two (2) adult residents of Chittenden 

County who will serve as character references. The references must be 

persons other than relatives and business associates; 

(12) A statement in writing, and dated, by the applicant that he or she 

certifies under penalty of perjury that all information contained in the 

application is true and correct. 

b. If, during the term of a permit, any of the information submitted on the original or 

renewal application changes, the permit holder shall notify Village/Town staff of such 

change within ten (10) business days thereafter, in writing. 

 

6. NON-TRANSFERABILITY OF PERMIT 

a. No permit shall be transferable except with the written consent of Village/Town staff, 

provided, however, that upon the death or incapacity of the permitee the massage 

establishment may continue in business for a reasonable period of time to allow for an 

orderly transfer of the permit. 

b. A change of location of a massage establishment may be approved by Village/Town 

staff, provided that all regulations of the Village of Essex Junction/Town of Essex are 

followed and a proper fee is paid to the Village/Town. 

 

7. ISSUANCE OF PERMIT 

Village/Town staff shall issue a massage establishment permit in compliance with sections 502 A 

and C of the Village LDC / section 702 of the Town zoning regulations unless the staff or law 

enforcement find that:  



	
  

	
  

a. The correct permit fee has not been tendered to the Village of Essex Junction/Town 

of Essex, and in the case of check or bank draft, honored with payment upon 

presentation; 

b. The operation, as proposed by the applicant, if permitted, would not comply with all 

applicable laws, including but not limited to the local building, zoning and health 

regulations; 

c. The applicant if an individual; or any of the stockholders holding more than ten (10) 

percent of the stock of the corporation; or any of the officers and directors if the 

applicant is a corporation; or any of the partners including limited partners if the 

applicant is a partnership; or the manager or other person principally in charge of the 

operation of the business; or any of the employees of the business have been 

convicted of a felony or misdemeanor involving sexual misconduct with minors, 

human trafficking, keeping or residing in a house of ill-fame, solicitation of a lewd or 

unlawful act, public indecency, prostitution or pandering, unless such conviction 

occurred at least five (5) years prior to the date of the application; 

d. The applicant has knowingly made any false, misleading or fraudulent statements of 

fact in the permit application or in any document required by the Village of Essex 

Junction/Town of Essex in conjunction therewith; 

e. The applicant has had a massage business, massage practitioner or other similar 

permit or license denied, revoked or suspended by the Village of Essex 

Junction/Town of Essex or any other state or local agency within five (5) years prior 

to the date of application. 

 

8. DISPLAY OF PERMIT 

The permit for a massage establishment shall be displayed in a conspicuous place within the 

business premises. A recent photograph of the owner or owners of the massage establishment 

shall be attached to the permit. 

  



	
  

	
  

9. REVOCATION OR SUSPENSION, APPEAL 

a. Grounds for suspension and revocation – Violation of any provisions of these regulations 

through acts or omissions constitutes grounds for suspension or revocation of a permit 

issued under these regulations. Any interested person may appeal a decision of staff 

regarding a permit by filing an appeal in accordance with section 1702 of the Village 

LDC / section 7.4 of the Town zoning regulations. 

b. Notice of hearing 

i. No permit issued under these regulations may be suspended or revoked until after 

due notice and hearing to determine if grounds for such suspension or revocation 

exist. Notice of such hearing shall be in writing and served at least fourteen (14) 

days prior to the date of hearing by registered mail or personal service or by 

posting on the interior of the massage establishment. 

ii. The notice shall state the grounds of the complaint against the massage 

establishment and shall designate the time and place where the hearing will be 

held. The massage establishment representative shall have the right to appear at 

such hearing and to produce evidence. 

c. Waiver of hearing – The massage establishment or its owner may waive the hearing and 

avoid the suspension of the permit, if the grounds for the hearing do not include the 

violations of sections 3.a., or 10.d., or 10.e., and the massage establishment or its owner 

rectifies the violating condition(s) within three (3) calendar days of the notification of 

hearing to full compliance of these regulations. 

d. Discretionary action by Village/Town staff -- If, after holding the hearing, Village/Town 

staff determines that the massage establishment was being operated as charged in the 

complaint, then Village/Town staff may either: 

i. Suspend the permit for a period not to exceed ninety (90) days if it is charged and 

proved that the massage establishment has violated any of the provisions of these 

regulations; or 

ii. Revoke the permit if it is charged and proved that the massage establishment has 

violated sections 3.a., 10.d., or 10.e., or for any grounds that would warrant the 

denial of issuance of the permit in the first place. 

  



	
  

	
  

e. Surrender of permit and security -- When a permit is suspended or revoked, Village/ 

Town staff must take custody of the suspended or revoked license: 

i. Upon receiving the notice of permit revocation or suspension, unless otherwise 

directed, the massage establishment must, within forty-eight (48) hours: 

(a) Place the permit in the mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the Village/Town; 

or 

(b) Physically deliver the permit to the Village/Town. 

ii. If Village/Town staff does not receive the suspended or revoked permit within 

five (5) business days after notification, the massage establishment violates this 

section. In addition to any other penalties that may be imposed, the Village/Town 

may: 

(a) Remove the revoked or suspended permit from the business location; and 

(b) Close the place of business until the massage establishment obtains a permit. 

 

10. EXEMPTIONS 

a. The provisions of these regulations shall not apply to the following while they are 

engaged in the performance of the duties of their respective professions: 

i. Physicians, surgeons, chiropractors, osteopaths, or physical therapy practitioners 

who are duly licensed to practice their respective professions in this state; 

ii. Nurses who are registered under the laws of this state; 

iii. Barbers and beauticians who are duly licensed under the laws of this state, except 

that this exemption shall apply solely to the massaging of the neck, face, scalp and 

hair of the customer or client for cosmetic or beautifying purposes; 

iv. Trainers of any professional sports franchise or educational institution athletic team; 

v. Any organization which is exempt from taxation as a bona fide fraternal, charitable, 

religious, benevolent or nonprofit organization under the internal revenue laws of 

the United States. 

b. The exemption under subsection (a) of this section applies to an individual, and not to the 

establishment in which the individual works. 

  



	
  

	
  

11. OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

a. Hours -- No massage establishment shall operate or provide massage services during the 

hours between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. 

b. No-lock requirement for massage rooms -- Any cubicle, room, booth, or any area within 

a massage establishment in which massage services take place may not be fitted with a 

door capable of being locked. 

c. Unlawful to admit intoxicated persons -- It shall be unlawful for the owner, proprietor, 

manager or person in charge of a massage establishment to harbor, admit, receive or 

permit to be or remain in or about any such place, any drunken person or any person 

under the influence of intoxicating liquor or narcotic drugs. 

d. Indecent conduct –  

i. It shall be unlawful for any person, in a massage establishment, to place his or her 

hand or hands upon, to touch with any part of his or her body, to fondle in any 

manner, or to massage, a sexual or genital part of any other person. 

ii. It shall be unlawful for any person, in a massage establishment, to expose his or her 

sexual or genital parts, or any portion thereof, to any other person. It shall also be 

unlawful for any person, in a massage establishment, to expose the sexual or genital 

parts, or any portions thereof, of any other person. 

iii. It shall be unlawful for any person, while in the presence of any other person in a 

massage establishment, to fail to conceal with a fully opaque covering, the sexual or 

genital parts of his or her body. 

iv. It shall be unlawful for any person owning, operating or managing a massage 

establishment, knowingly to cause, allow or permit in or about such massage 

establishment, any agent, massage practitioner, employee, or any other person under 

his or her control or supervision to perform such acts prohibited in subsections i, ii, or 

iii of this section. A claim that a person in violation of this section is an independent 

contractor is not a valid defense. 

e. Unlawful advertisement -- A massage establishment that has not obtained a permit under 

these regulations may not use the word “massage” on any form of advertising unless the 

person or the organization is expressly exempt from these regulations.  



	
  

	
  

f. Entrances and exits 

i. A massage establishment may not have any entrance or exit way providing a direct 

passageway to any other type of business, residence or living quarters. 

ii. Entrance to and exit from the massage establishment must be through the front of the 

building on the side of the building facing the public street. 

g. Signage -- A massage establishment shall affix an exterior sign stating its trade or 

business name as appears on its permit application near its main entrance. The sign shall 

be erected facing a street or highway that is not a private lane, in a conspicuous location 

within ten (10) feet of the property line. The sign shall be visible from the nearest public 

street or highway and clearly indicate that the said premise is a massage establishment. 

h. Windows -- A massage establishment may not cause complete obstruction of the passage 

of light through any windows of the massage establishment premise by means including 

but not limited to affixing plywood, paper, or taping other opaque materials over the 

windows. This restriction does not apply to the standard use of curtains or blinds. 





 
RESOLUTION OF APPRECIATION 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Heart and Soul of Essex, the Town of Essex and the Village 
of Essex Junction completed a two-year community planning grant through the 
Orton Foundation; and 
 
 WHEREAS, extensive public discussion and input was solicited in the 
course of public events, activities, neighborhood conversations and meetings 
between 2012 and 2014; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this public engagement resulted in a clear set of shared 
values –  LOCAL ECONOMY, HEALTH AND RECREATION, COMMUNITY 
CONNECTIONS, EDUCATION, THOUGHTFUL GROWTH AND SAFETY; now 
therefore be it, 
 
 RESOLVED by the Village of Essex Junction Trustees and the Town of 
 Essex Selectboard that: 
 
 We recognize and thank community members for participating in Heart & 
 Soul of Essex and for contributing to the identification of shared values; 
 and be it further  
  
 RESOLVED, that municipal officials will consider  these community values 
 when making community decisions and endeavor  to make decisions that 
 will preserve or strengthen these values. 
   
Dated at Essex Junction, Vermont, this 11th day of February, 2014. 
 
VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
_______________________________  _______________________________ 
George A. Tyler, Village President  Daniel S. Kerin, Vice President 
 
_______________________________  _______________________________ 
Elaine H. Sopchak, Trustee   Lori A. Houghton, Trustee 
 
_______________________________ 
Andrew P. Brown, Trustee 



 
 
 

February 5, 2014 
 

 
Board of Trustees 
Village of Essex Junction 
2 Lincoln Street 
Essex Junction, VT  05452-3685 
 
 
  We have audited the financial statements of the Village of Essex Junction, 
Vermont as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013 and have issued our report thereon dated 
February 5, 2014.  We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in “Government Auditing Standards”, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
  In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Village of Essex 
Junction, Vermont’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for 
designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Village of 
Essex Junction, Vermont’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s internal 
control. 
 
  A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness 
is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.   
 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the 
second paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might 
be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses and, therefore, there can be no assurance that 
all such deficiencies have been identified.  In addition, because of inherent limitations in internal 
control, including the possibility of management override of controls, misstatements due to error 
or fraud may occur and not be detected by such controls.  We did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
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  This communication is intended solely for the information and use of 
management, the Board of Trustees and others within the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont 
and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.   
 
  We would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff of the Village of Essex, 
Junction for their assistance and cooperativeness throughout our audit.  It has been a pleasure 
working with you. 
 
  Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
 
 SULLIVAN, POWERS & CO. 
 Certified Public Accountant 
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Board of Trustees 
Village of Essex Junction 
2 Lincoln Street 
Essex Junction, VT  05452-3685 

 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 

business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
Village of Essex Junction, Vermont as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013 and have issued 
our report thereon dated February 5, 2014.  Professional standards require that we provide you 
with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, 
“Government Auditing Standards” and OMB Circular A-133, as well as certain information 
related to the planned scope and timing of our audit.  We have communicated such information 
in our engagement letter to you dated June 20, 2013.  Professional standards also require that we 
communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 

 
Our Responsibility under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, Government Auditing 
Standards and OMB Circular A-133 

 
As stated in our engagement letter, our responsibility, as described by 

professional standards, is to express opinions about whether the financial statements, prepared or 
approved by management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our audit of the financial 
statements does not relieve you or management of your responsibilities. 
 

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Village of Essex 
Junction, Vermont’s internal control over financial reporting in order to determine our auditing 
procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements and not to 
provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting.  We also considered internal 
control over compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a 
major federal program in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of 
expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on internal control over compliance 
in accordance with OMB Circular A-133. 
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     As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Village of Essex 
Junction, Vermont’s financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants, noncompliance 
with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement 
amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit. Also, in accordance with OMB A-133, we examined, on a test basis, 
evidence about the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont's compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the “U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement” that are applicable to its major federal program for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont's compliance with 
those requirements.  While our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion, it does not 
provide a legal determination on the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont's compliance with those 
requirements. 
 
  Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  We are 
responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting 
process.  However, we are not required to design procedures specifically to identify such matters. 
 

Our responsibility for the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards which 
accompanies the financial statements, as described by professional standards, is to evaluate the 
presentation of the schedule in relation to the financial statements as a whole and to report on 
whether the schedule is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole. 
 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit  

 
We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously 

communicated to you in our engagement letter. 
 

Significant Audit Findings 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices  

 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting 

policies. The significant accounting policies used by the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont are 
described in Note I to the financial statements. The Village of Essex Junction, Vermont adopted 
the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 63 
“Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net 
Position”.  No other new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing 
policies was not changed during the year. 

 
We noted no transactions entered into by the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont 

during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.  All significant 
transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 
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Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 

management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current 
events and assumptions about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly 
sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility 
that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  The most 
sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were the allowance for uncollectible 
receivables, the allowance for uncollectible notes receivable, the original cost of capital assets 
for which original documents are not available, the fair value of donated assets and the useful 
lives of property, plant and equipment used to compute depreciation. 

 
Management’s estimate of the allowance for uncollectible receivables, the 

allowance for uncollectible notes receivable, the original cost of capital assets for which original 
documents are not available, the fair value of donated assets and the useful lives of property, 
plant and equipment used to compute depreciation are based on an analysis of the aging of 
receivables, the likelihood the note will be repaid, the estimated current replacement cost of 
capital assets discounted to the year of acquisition, the estimated current fair value and the nature 
of the items. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for 
uncollectible notes and receivables, the original cost of capital assets, the fair value of donated 
capital assets and the useful lives of property, plant and equipment in determining that they are 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
   
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
  We encountered no difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
   

 Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and 
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. We did not identify any 
misstatements during the course of our audit. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
  For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with 
management as a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to 
our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report.  We 
are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 

 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in 

the management representation letter dated February 5, 2014. 
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Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about 
auditing and accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If 
a consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the Village’s financial 
statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those 
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to 
determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such 
consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting 
principles and auditing standards, with management each year prior to our retention as the 
Village’s auditors.  However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional 
relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
Other Matters 
 

With respect to the required supplementary information accompanying the 
financial statements, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, 
and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of 
preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and 
complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the 
required supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 
 

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Trustees and 
management of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont and is not intended to be, and should not 
be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

 
 Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
 

 
 

        SULLIVAN, POWERS & CO. 
        Certified Public Accountants 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT 
 

AUDIT REPORT 
 

JUNE 30, 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT 
AUDIT REPORT 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
JUNE 30, 2013 

 
 
 

 Page # 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report     1-3 
   

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis      4-15 
 
 
Financial Statements: 
 
 
 Statement of Net Position Exhibit A         16 
 
 
 Statement of Activities Exhibit B       17 
 
 
 Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds Exhibit C        18 
 
 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes  
  in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds Exhibit D        19 
 
 
 Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
  and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental  
  Funds to the Statement of Activities Exhibit E         20 
 
  
 Statement of Revenue and Expenditures - Budget 
  and Actual - General Fund Exhibit F  21-26 
 
 
 Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds Exhibit G        27 
 
 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes 
   in Fund Net Position - Proprietary Funds Exhibit H       28 
 
 
 Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds Exhibit I       29 
 
 
 Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds Exhibit J     30 
 
  
 



VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT 
AUDIT REPORT 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
JUNE 30, 2013 

 
 
 
 
   Page # 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements  31-53 

 
 
Financial Statements of Individual Funds: 
 
 
 Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor  
  Governmental Funds Schedule 1        54 
 
 
 Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures  
  and Changes in Fund Balances -  
  Nonmajor Governmental Funds Schedule 2        55 
 
 
 Statement of Revenue and Expenses - Budget (Non 
  GAAP Budgetary Basis) and Actual - Water Fund Schedule 3        56 
 
 
 Statement of Revenue and Expenses - Budget (Non 
  GAAP Budgetary Basis) and Actual - Sanitation Fund Schedule 4        57 
 
 

Statement of Revenue and Expenses - Budget  
 (Non GAAP Budgetary Basis) and Actual -  
 Wastewater Fund Schedule 4        58-59 

 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over  
 Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other  
 Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  
 Performed in Accordance with “Government 
 Auditing Standards”  60-61 
 
 
   



(1) 

 
Independent Auditor's Report 

 
Board of Trustees 
Village of Essex Junction 
2 Lincoln Street 
Essex Junction, VT  05452-3685 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
  We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2013 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Village of 
Essex Junction, Vermont’s basic financial statements as listed in the Table of Contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements   
 
   Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
“Government Auditing Standards”, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s internal control. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Opinions 
 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to previously present fairly, in all 
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of Essex 
Junction, Vermont as of June 30, 2013 and the respective changes in financial position and cash 
flows, where applicable, thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund 
for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 

 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 

 Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require 
that Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 through 15 be presented to supplement 
the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 

As described in Note I.F. to the financial statements, effective June 30, 2013, the 
Village of Essex Junction, Vermont implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement No. 63, “Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred 
Inflows of Resources, and Net Position”. 
 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial 
statements that collectively comprise the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s basic financial 
statements. The combining fund financial statements and budgetary schedules for the enterprise 
funds are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements.  These schedules have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on them. 
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Other Reporting Required by “Government Auditing Standards”   
 

In accordance with “Government Auditing Standards”, we have also issued our 
report dated February 5, 2014 on our consideration of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s 
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that 
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with “Government Auditing Standards” in considering the Village of Essex 
Junction, Vermont’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
February 5, 2014 
Montpelier, Vermont 
VT Lic. #92-000180 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 
 
The Village of Essex Junction (the “Village”) herein sets forth an overview and analysis of its financial 
operations for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 

• Assets exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources on June 30, 2013 by $24,596,920 
(net position).  Of this amount, $731,099 (unrestricted net position) may be used by the various 
funds of the Village to meet the Village’s ongoing obligations. 

• The Village’s total net position increased by $1,454,918.  Of this amount, net position 
attributable to governmental activities increased by $538,459.  Net position attributable to 
business-type activities increased by $916,459. 

• Fund balances of governmental funds decreased by $169,189 in fiscal FY13.   The General Fund 
had $346,008 of unassigned fund balance at 6/30/13. This is equal to 10.3% of the approved 
FY14 General Fund Budget.  $35,000 of fund balance will be used to reduce the tax rate in FY15 
which will bring the percentage of the FY14 budget down to 9.3%. As of 6/30/12 the General 
Fund had $238,187 of unassigned fund balance. 
 

Overview of the Village’s Financial Statements: 
 
The annual financial report consists of three components:  1) government-wide financial statements, 2) 
fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. 
 
Government-wide financial statements.  The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the Village of Essex Junction’s finances, in a manner similar 
to a private-sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the Village of Essex Junction’s assets and 
liabilities with the difference between the two reported as net position. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the Village’s net position changed during 
the past fiscal year.  The statement of activities is on the full accrual basis (i.e. all changes in net position 
are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows) whereas the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances of 
governmental funds is on the modified accrual basis (i.e. revenue is recognized when it becomes 
measurable and available as net current position and expenditures are recognized when the related 
liability is incurred).  Thus in the statement of activities revenues and expenses are reported for some 
items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but 
unused vacation leave). 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements combine information from governmental funds 
(which are supported primarily by tax dollars) with information from enterprise funds which are 
supported by user fees and charges (business-type activities).   The governmental activities of the 
Village of Essex Junction include general government, public works, community development, public 
safety, and culture and recreation.  The business-type activities of the Village include water operations, 
wastewater treatment, and sanitation lines maintenance.  The government-wide financial statements can 
be found in Exhibits A and B of this report. 
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Fund financial statements.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control 
over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The Village has three 
types of funds:  governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.  The proprietary funds of 
the Village are all Enterprise Funds.  Fund financial statements can be found in Exhibits C through J of 
this report.  
 
Notes to the financial statements.  The notes provide additional information that is necessary for an 
understanding of the information in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The Notes to 
the Financial Statements follow the basic financial statements in this report.   
 
Other Information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report 
also presents certain supplementary information. This supplementary information includes combining 
statements for various funds and budgetary comparison statements for funds other than the Village’s 
general fund.  The supplementary information can be found immediately following the notes to the 
financial statements. 
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 

Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s Statement of Net Position 
  

FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY2012 FY 2013 FY2012

Current and Other Assets $ 1,663,910 $ 1,704,351 $ 3,322,385 $ 3,522,220 $ 4,986,295 $ 5,226,571
Capital Assets 11,973,621 11,105,872 20,526,750 10,594,699 32,500,371 21,700,571

    
     Total Assets 13,637,531 12,810,223 23,849,135 14,116,919 37,486,666 26,927,142

Current Liabilities  182,479 106,953 2,232,587 494,162 2,415,066 601,115
Non-Current Liabilities 389,824 178,159 10,083,198 3,005,866 10,473,022 3,184,025

     Total Liabilities 572,303 285,112 12,315,785 3,500,028 12,888,088 3,785,140

Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,658 0 0 0 1,658 0

Net Position
Net Investment in capital assets 11,723,620 11,083,872 12,136,777 9,386,384 23,860,397 20,470,256
Restricted 5,424 4,784 0 0 5,424 4,784
Unrestricted 1,334,526 1,436,455 (603,427) 1,230,507 731,099 2,666,962

     Total Net Position $ 13,063,570 $ 12,525,111 $ 11,533,350 $ 10,616,891 $ 24,596,920 $ 23,142,002

Total
Governmental

Activities
Business-Type

Activities

 
As stated above, assets exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $24,596,920 at the end 
of fiscal year 2013.  Assets at the end of fiscal year 2012 exceeded liabilities by $23,142,002.   
 
The largest portion of the Village’s net position is in its investment in capital assets (97%).  These assets 
are used to provide services to its citizens (e.g. land, buildings, equipment, infrastructure).  Therefore 
these assets are not available for future spending. 
 
$5,424 of the Village’s net position are subject to restrictions on how they may be used.  Unrestricted 
net assets ($731,099) may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and 
creditors.  Some of the amounts included in unrestricted net position are committed by the Village or 
assigned by the Board of Trustees for particular purposes (e.g. capital projects). 
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FY  2013 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2012
Revenues
Program Revenues
   Charges for Services $ 131,213 $ 120,923 $ 5,344,853 $ 5,073,014 $ 5,476,066 $ 5,193,937
   Operating Grants and
    Contributions 149,721 132,937 350 0 150,071 132,937
   Capital Grants and
    Contributions 396,597 68,191 745,833 206,790 1,142,430 274,981
General Revenues
   Property Taxes 2,731,909 2,644,086 0 0 2,731,909 2,644,086
   Unrestricted Investment Earnings 3,051 3,412 5,189 8,693 8,240 12,105
   Other Revenues 17,406 16,239 0 0 17,406 16,239

     Total Revenues 3,429,897 2,985,788 6,096,225 5,288,497 9,526,122 8,274,285

Expenses
Governmental Activities:
  General Government 351,276 601,735 0 0  351,276 601,735
  Public Safety 352,888 318,691 0 0 352,888 318,691
  Public Works 1,153,369 1,105,751 0 0 1,153,369 1,105,751
  Community Development 304,947 46,341 0 0 304,947 46,341
  Culture and Recreation 728,958 707,659 0 0 728,958 707,659
Business-Type Activities:
  Water 0 0 2,953,998 2,902,945 2,953,998 2,902,945
  Sanitation 0 0 490,995 465,532 490,995 465,532
  Wastewater 0 0 1,734,773 1,720,958 1,734,773 1,720,958

     Total Expenses 2,891,438 2,780,177 5,179,766 5,089,435 8,071,204 7,869,612

Changes in Net Position 538,459 205,611 916,459 199,062 1,454,918 404,673

Net Position - Beginning of Year 12,525,111 12,319,500 10,616,891 10,417,829 23,142,002 22,737,329

Net Position - End of Year $ 13,063,570 $ 12,525,111 $ 11,533,350 $ 10,616,891 $ 24,596,920 $ 23,142,002

Statement of Activities

Total
Governmental

Activities
Business-Type

Activities

 
At the end of FY13, the Village of Essex Junction has positive balances in all three categories of net 
position for governmental activities.  Unrestricted net position was negative in the Wastewater 
Treatment Fund.  This was because of a timing issue between the payment of construction costs for the 
Refurbishment Project and the actual receipt of State Clean Water Revolving Loan dollars.  Shortly after 
the end of the year, the 4th and final loan was approved for the project and reimbursement was received 
for amounts spent in FY13.    
 
Governmental activities.  Governmental activities increased the Village’s net position by $538,459 in 
FY13.  Expenditures in governmental funds exceeded revenues by $419,189. A loan of $250,000 for a 
Fire ladder truck was received which reduced the change in fund balances from a $419,189 loss to a 
$169,189 loss. The Village increased its investment in capital assets by $639,748 and unrestricted net 
position decreased by $101,929.  Restricted net position increased by $640.   
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Business-type activities.   Business-type activities increased the Village’s net  position by $916,459.   
 
Water Fund 
 
The Water Fund had budgetary net income of $50,484 in FY13.  Disregarding IBM pass through 
revenues and expenses, Water Fund revenues were $28,778 more than budget while expenditures were 
$21,707 less than budgeted.  Most of the surplus revenues came from residential sales (+$23,346) due to 
a hot dry summer.  The Water Fund spent less on employee insurances because the plan the employees 
were on did not have a premium increase in 2013 saving $7,527.  Water Lines Maintenance-Breaks was 
under-spent by $2,102 but CWD water purchases for Village Residents was over-budget $3,694. Meters 
and Parts line item was underspent $4,175 due to the encompassing meter replacement project covering 
what would normally be paid for through this line item. Distribution Materials (supplies for maintenance  
of the Village’s water distribution system like hydrants, gate valves and pipes) was under-spent by 
$7,110 due to the not replacing a few old hydrants because of time restraints.  A Utility Rate study was 
completed for $7,209.  Out of this study, a new utility rate structure was implemented in FY14.  The 
new structure consists of a per-unit fixed charge plus a rate for all usage.  The Village increased its 
water/sewer/sanitation billing from semi-annual billing to quarterly.  The Water Fund finished the 
Algonquin Water Loop Extension project to complete the loop between Abnaki Ave. and Iroquois Ave. 
for $41,460, and replaced a pickup truck and backhoe for $35,409 and $73,865 respectfully.  The Meter 
Replacement project was continued at a cost of $14,216 in FY13. 
 
Sanitation Fund 
 
The Sanitation Fund had budgetary net income of $106,433.  Sanitation revenues were $165,311 more 
than budgeted while expenditures were $58,878 more than budgeted.  Tap on fees were $87,000 more 
than budgeted, and this surplus was transferred to the Sanitation Capital Reserve per the “Trustees 
Policy Regarding Water/Sewer Fees Collected in Excess of Budgeted Amounts”.  Village customer 
charges were higher than budgeted in part because $56,000 was included in the rate for the WWTF 
Refurbishment Bond payment, and $27,000 of surplus was generated due to higher than anticipated 
water use.  If the excess tap on fees had not been transferred to the Sanitation Capital Reserve, the 
Sanitation expense budget would have been under-spent by $28,122. Sanitation personnel costs were 
lower than budgeted by $12,460 in part due to the replacement of a long time employee.  Pump station 
(both Village and those shared with the Town of Essex) expenses were lower than anticipated by $9,526.  
As in the Water Fund, the Meters and Parts line item was not spent due to the Meter Replacement 
Program.  The Sanitation Fund participates by paying 2/3 of the cost of the Meter Replacement Program 
as it funds the costs for both the Sanitation Fund (underground piping) and the Wastewater Treatment 
Fund (wastewater treatment).   Meter replacement costs totaled $28,433 in FY13. The High School 
Pump Station upgrade project was completed at a cost of $789,739 in FY13. The total cost of this 
project was $1,071,915. The High School Pump Station Upgrade was funded by a Clean Water State 
Revolving Loan.  The Sanitation Fund shared in the cost of the utility rate study for $7,209 and an 
Infiltration and Inflow Study was begun with an FY13 cost of $2,712. 
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Wastewater Treatment Fund 
 
The Wastewater Treatment Facility had budgetary net income of $179,258 in FY13.  Revenues were 
over-budget by $51,048 while expenditures were less than budget by $108,210.  The goal of this budget 
was to produce a $20,000 surplus which was well surpassed.   At year end, a reconciliation was done of 
revenues versus expenses and it was found that each of the Tri-Town communities was responsible for a 
portion of the surplus.  Each community in the Tri-town was designated a portion of the surplus to be a 
buffer against future losses.  The amounts designated to each community are:  Essex Junction, $109,731; 
Town of Essex, $645; Town of Williston, $35,101.   Accounts that contributed significantly to the 
surplus are Sludge Management, $60,571; Maintenance Other, $13,694; and Heath Insurance and Other 
Benefits, $30,033.  The Health Insurance surplus is due to the stable price of the health insurance most 
Facility employees were enrolled in.  As for the other surpluses, the Wastewater Treatment Facility is 
undergoing a major renovation, and significant swings in budgeted line items can be attributed to 
contract schedule variables.  The project has been authorized to bond for $15,230,000.  A majority of the 
funding for this project will be from the State Clean Water Revolving Fund.  This funding has a 2% 
admin fee and is subject to reduction by subsidies.  Other capital projects undertaken by the Wastewater 
Treatment Facility in FY13 were:  the Utility Rate Study, $7,209; Two Variable Speed Drives for 
Blowers 1 &2, $15,308; Control Building Instrument Upgrades, $12,035; Digester Cleaning, $39,776; 
and Final Design of a Co-Generation System to replace the existing one, $24,558.  Radios were 
purchased with a Homeland Security grant for $6,184. 
 
Financial Analysis of Major Governmental Funds 
 
The General Fund 
 
The General Fund had a surplus of $58,444 in FY13.  It was budgeted to have a deficit of $35,000 but 
instead added to fund balance. The General Fund fund balance increased from $495,620 at the end of 
fiscal year 2012 to $554,064 at the end of fiscal year 2013.  Of the $554,064 fund balance, $89,997 is 
nonspendable (inventories and prepaid expenses), $118,059 is assigned (see page 49 of notes for 
breakdown).  This leaves $346,008 of unassigned fund balance in the General Fund.  The unassigned 
fund balance is 10.3% of the FY14 Budget.  The Trustees plan to allocate another $35,000 to reduce the 
tax rate in FY15 which will bring the percentage down below 10% as required by Village policy. To 
comply with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 54, the Village has adopted a 
fund balance policy.  Basically this fund balance policy states that net position of governmental fund 
type financial statements are classified as nonspendable (not in spendable form or legally required to 
remain intact); restricted (constraints on the use of resources are either externally imposed by creditors, 
grantors, or donors, or imposed by law through enabling legislation); committed (constraints on the use 
of resources are imposed by formal action of the voters); assigned (reflecting the Board of Trustees 
intended use of the resources); and unassigned.  The Village General Fund has no restricted net assets.   
 
• Excluding grants and donations received and expended in FY13, revenues were higher than 

budgeted by $43,344.  Revenues that were significantly higher than anticipated were License and 
Zoning Fees (+$30,199) due to higher than anticipated zoning permit activity; State Highway Aid 
(+$13,128).  

 
• Expenditures excluding those for grants and donations received in FY12 and Expense designated 

from prior years were $98,621 less than budgeted. The following departmental analysis will identify 
amounts varying substantially from budget and give an explanation of what transpired during the 
year.  
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A) The Administration Budget ended the year with a surplus of $38,862.  Salaries were under-spent 

because the Village Manager resigned in October and was not replaced during the fiscal year.  
Lauren Morrisseau, Finance Director and Susan McNamara-Hill, Village Clerk/Treasurer were 
Acting Co-Managers for the balance of the fiscal year.  Due to the change in personnel, other 
line items such as Health Insurance and other Benefits, Training and Conferences, Village 
Promotion and Vehicle Maintenance/Travel were also under-spent. 

B) Lincoln Hall Budget was over-spent by $14,083.  The majority of the over-expenditure was for 
Village Office Renovations (-$11,754).  Due to a leak, the Water and Sewer Charges line item 
was also over-spent by $1,007. The Trustees voted on 5/28/13 to “use surplus funds in the FY13 
Administration, Street, Planning, and Economic Development budgets to cover deficits in other 
General Fund budgets.” 

C) The Fire Department was over-spent by $10,479.   The most significant line item over-
expenditures were Workers Compensation (-$12,034), and Vehicle Maintenance (-$11,217).  A 
change in our Workers Compensation calculation for firefighters was unanticipated.  The 
Vehicle Maintenance was high as we maintained an aging ladder truck until its replacement was 
delivered.  The Fire Department, as is customary, balanced unexpected needs by spending less in 
other areas.  The deficit was covered by other surpluses in other departmental budgets as noted in 
B).  

D) The Street Department ended FY13 with a surplus of $34,920.    Regular Salaries was under-
spent by $24,934.  The Department did not replace a full-time employee who left Village 
employment but relied on a part-time worker to help with plowing.  Due to the 
uncharacteristically mild winter, this arrangement did not give a realistic picture of whether it 
would work or not.  The Street Department is relying on part-time and contract help again in 
FY14 to see if the department can function with one less full-time employee.  Other personnel 
related line items were under-spent for the same reason.  Gas, Grease and Oil was over-spent by 
$9,766.  Engineering was over-spent by $16,616 as the Village worked to find reasons for 
flooding on Mansfield Ave. and Shawn’s Way.  A storm drain was sliplined on Athens Drive 
which caused an over-expenditure in the Storm Sewer Maintenance line item (-$10,342). 

E) The Brownell Library budget ended the year with a surplus of $5,724. A surplus in the Health 
Insurance and Other Benefits of $6,493 helped to cover over-expenditures in Training and 
Conferences (-$1,362), Maintenance – Building Grounds (-$1,546) and Collections Line items of 
(-$2,608).  Other smaller surpluses in a number of line items resulted in the overall surplus for 
the year. 

F) The Planning and Zoning budget was under-spent by $35,642.  Health Insurance and Other 
Benefits was under-spent by $15,802 due to a change in coverage by an employee.  Legal 
Services was under-spent by $7,239 in part due to the negotiating skills of our Planning 
Department Staff and fewer than anticipated appeals.  Other Professional Services had a surplus 
because the Comprehensive Plan update wasn’t begun until May 2013 partly because of the 
desire to include input from the Heart and Soul process (+$5,551).  Other accounts were under-
spent by smaller amounts producing the surplus.  

G) The Economic Development Budget was underspent by $8,035.  Most of this can be attributed to 
Matching Grant Funds which were not used ($7,317).  This budget was amended prior to the 
fiscal year to convert a part-time position to a full-time position.  
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H)  Grants received and expended were received for the Library, Fire Department, Community 

Development Department, and the Street Department.  The Library received from the State of 
Vermont a grant for the 1st Wednesdays program ($500), a Performer Grant of $100 and an 
LSTA (Library Services and Technology Act) grant for $963. The Library also received 
donations from the Friends of the Brownell Library for books and equipment totaling $5,957.  
Three benches were donated and installed on Library grounds.  One bench was in honor of the 
Bill and Lorraine Currier, one in honor of Kay Helfrich and one in honor of Carlotta Raine.  The 
Fire Department purchased 6 radios with a Homeland Security grant and shared in the purchase 
of 15 Portable radios, 15 mobile radios and 2 base radios with the Street Department and the 
Wastewater Treatment Facility from another Homeland Security Grant.  The Economic 
Development Department continued in the use of a Federal Grant for “Building Healthy 
Communities”.  The money was used for a walkability, bikeability assessment of the Village.  As 
a result the Village was awarded a bronze award for walkability from Walk Friendly 
Communities and an honorable mention from the American Bicyclists Association.  In FY12 the 
Town of Essex and the Village of Essex Junction were awarded a Planning Grant from the Orton 
Foundation for $100,000.  The Heart and Soul of Essex project has developed shared values for 
our communities and is in the process of wrapping up. 

 
Capital Reserve Fund  
 
The Capital Reserve Fund had a fund balance of $346,940 as of June 30, 2012 and a fund balance of 
$455,938 as of June 30, 2013.  During the year, Algonquin Roadway Reconstruction was completed 
($98,168).  This project also included water line work which was paid for out of the Water Fund.  Other 
projects completed in FY13 were a Byway Sign ($7,612) and a fence on the Main St. bike path ($8,304). 
The  Crescent Connector Project progressed for $187,259 with reimbursement in the year of $155,349.  
This project is funded by a grant from the US Department of Transportation through the State of 
Vermont Agency of Transportation and does not require matching funds.  Village Office Conference 
room improvements were made for $16,051 and Village Office Renovations were begun for $14,825. 
Road resurfacing was done costing $96,016.  Roads resurfaced were portions of Brickyard Rd. and 
portions of Beech St. Work was begun on Lincoln St. Sidewalk Extension project partially funded by a 
US Department of Transportation Grant. The cost incurred was $56,138.   Woods End Reconstruction 
project engineering was begun with a cost of $1,584.  The following new grants were awarded:  from the 
US Department of Transportation passed through the Vermont Agency of Transportation $250,000 for 
the Multi-Use Safety Path along the rail tracks between North and Central Streets.  An additional grant 
from Chittenden County Regional Planning Commission was also awarded for the Multi-Use Safety 
Path ($139,835), and work began in FY13 with a cost of $8,189.  
 
Whitcomb Terrace Loan Fund 
 
In April of 2004 the Village received a grant of up to $275,000 from the Vermont Agency of Commerce 
and Community Development.  This grant was used in FY05 to construct Whitcomb Terrace, 19 new 
barrier-free units of affordable housing at 128 West Street in Essex Junction.  The grant money was used 
to provide a deferred loan to Whitcomb Terrace Housing Limited Partnership for the purpose of 
constructing Whitcomb Terrace.  The interest free loan is due to be paid back to the Village on 
December 17, 2034.  The Village has a note receivable that is not likely to be paid back and so is 
carrying a $-0- balance for this note. 
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Rolling Stock Reserve Fund 
 
The Rolling Stock Reserve Fund had fund balance of $618,013 at the beginning of FY13 and $280,542 
as of the end of FY13.  Expenditures in the Rolling Stock Fund in FY13 totaled $981,653.  The Village 
purchased a Pierce Arrow XT Ladder Truck for $802,736 and a Freightliner Diesel Dump truck for 
$129,177 plus trade in. The Rolling Stock Fund also made a payment of $22,000 plus interest on the 
State Municipal Equipment Loan for the 2008 Fire Department KME Rescue/Pumper.  The principal 
balance on the loan is currently $-0-.  The fund received $80,000 for the sale of the old Ladder Truck 
and $100,000 was contributed to the fund by the Town of Essex for the new Ladder Truck. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The Village of Essex Junction’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business–type 
activities as of June 30, 2013 totaled $32,500,371 (net of accumulated depreciation).  These assets 
include buildings, roads and bridges, land, machinery and equipment, library books, park facilities, 
vehicles and distribution and collection systems.   
 
The major capital asset transactions during the year for the Governmental Activities were as follows: 
 

• Paving on Brickyard Rd. and Beech St. 
• Algonquin Road Reconstruction 
• Conference Room Improvements 
• Work progressed on Lincoln St. Sidewalk Extension 
• Work progressed on Crescent Connector Rd. 
• A fire ladder truck was purchased 
• A fire ladder truck was sold 
• A dump truck was purchased 
• A dump truck was traded in 
 

The major capital assets transactions during the year for the business-type activities were as follows: 
 
• Algonquin water line to complete loop between Abnaki & Iroquois was completed 
• 420 New meters installed 
• High School Pump Station Upgrade was completed 
• Wastewater Treatment Facility Upgrade was continued 
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A table that shows the values of the Village’s capital assets net of depreciation is shown below.  
Additional information can be found in Note IV.D. of this report. 
 

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Land 55,742 55,742 118,077 118,077 173,819 173,819
Construction in Progress 421,930 151,404 10,286,596 1,327,124 10,708,526 1,478,528
Antiques and Works of Art 7,550 12,000 0 0 7,550 12,000
Buildings and Building Improvements 1,870,964 1,870,964 8,343,215 8,343,215 10,214,179 10,214,179
Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment, Furniture & 
 Traffic Signals 5,590,111 5,029,223 3,029,079 2,990,692 8,619,190 8,019,915
Library Books 833,475 857,943 0 0 833,475 857,943
Parks 210,984 210,984 0 0 210,984 210,984
Roads, Curbs, Sidewalks and Storm Sewers 7,428,521 7,214,379 45,539 45,539 7,474,060 7,259,918
Distribution and Collection Systems 0 0 16,248,495 14,941,337 16,248,495 14,941,337
Accumulated Depreciation (4,445,656) (4,296,767) (17,544,251) (17,171,285) (21,989,907) (21,468,052)

Total 11,973,621 11,105,872 20,526,750 10,594,699 32,500,371 21,700,571

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

 
 
Long Term Debt 
 
The Village received a loan of $110,000 from the Vermont Municipal Equipment Loan Fund for the 
purchase of the KME Rescue/Pumper in FY08.  The interest rate on this loan is 2% with a 5 year pay 
back provision.  As of 6/30/13 this loan is retired. 
 
In FY13 the Village received a loan of $250,000 from the Merchants Bank for the purchase of the Fire 
Ladder Truck.  The interest rate is 1.31% and the note is due July 30, 2013.  The Village renewed the 
note on July 30, 2013 and paid down $50,000 of the principal. 
 
The Wastewater Treatment Facility took out a $250,000 note from the People’s United Bank in FY09 to 
cover the deficit in that fund created primarily by the cleaning of the digester and the drop in member-
town revenues.  The terms of this note are a yearly payment of $50,000 plus 3.25% interest for 5 years.  
As of 6/30/13 there was a $50,000 principal balance on this loan. 
 
In FY11 the Village began 2 long term projects in the Wastewater Treatment Fund and the Sanitation 
Fund.  In a special meeting on April 12, 2011, the Village voters authorized the Village to issue bonds 
for $15,230,000 for improvements to the Wastewater Treatment Facility and $1,287,000 for the upgrade 
of Village pump stations.  As of 6/30/13, the High School Pump Station project was complete and the 
Village had borrowed $1,093,596 and received a subsidy of $114,800 from the State Clean Water 
Revolving Fund in the Sanitation Fund.  Payments on this loan are scheduled to begin February 2014.  
As of 6/30/13 the Village had borrowed $7,036,474 for the Wastewater Treatment Refurbishment 
Project from the State Clean Water Revolving Fund and received a subsidy of $466,870.   The first 
payment on this loan is due in FY17.  A bond payable for the Wastewater Treatment Refurbishment 
Project for $1,705,000 has been assumed from the Town of Bradford.  Principal and interest payments 
were started in FY12.  As of June 30, 2013, the principal outstanding on this bond was $1,585,000.  The 
Wastewater Treatment Facility, while owned by the Village of Essex Junction serves 3 towns, the 
Village of Essex Junction, the Town of Essex and the Town of Williston. The debt payments for the 
Wastewater Treatment Facility are distributed to the Tri-town members according to capacity owned in 
the Facility. 
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 
 

•  As of January 2014 the economy continues to improve slowly although many people are still out 
of work. The national unemployment rate was at 6.7 % in December 2013, down from 7.8% in 
December 2012 according to the US Dept. of Labor Bureau of Labor Statics.  According to the 
same source, Vermont unemployment was at 4.4% in November 2013, down from 5.2% in 
November 2012.   

•  The CPI index for Northeast urban communities was 1.3% from December 2012 to December 
2013. The national city average CPI index was 1.5% from December 2012 to December 2013. 

•  Unrest in the Middle East is on-going.  The housing market is improving.  Gasoline prices in 
New England and the Nation are a little lower this December than they were last January 
according to the US Energy Information Administration.  The US average was $3.296/gallon on 
1/20/14 and the New England average was $3.49/ gallon.   The national debt has passed the $17 
Trillion mark, and we have nearly reached the debt ceiling again. 

•  A requirement to purchase the Village’s health insurance from the Vermont Health Connect 
Exchange went into effect as of January 1, 2014.  It is not known what effect “Obamacare” will 
have on the nation but as of January 2014, it has not met its enrollment goals particularly with 
the “Millenials” (young adults).  The rollout of the National Exchange website did not go well, 
but the program continues to implement improvements. 

•  Susan McNamara-Hill, Village Clerk/Treasurer/Tax Collector, and Lauren Morrisseau, Finance 
Director, were acting interim Co-managers from October 2012 to June 30, 2013.  On July 1, 
2013 Patrick Scheidel, Town of Essex Manager, became a shared manager for the Village and 
the Town.  The Village Trustees and Town Selectboard are working to find areas where shared 
services make sense in order to save taxpayer dollars. 

•  FY13 was the last year of the IBM M&E Subsidy payment. 
•  Planning applications in the Village remain strong with a preference for one and two bedroom 

apartments to meet market demand.  The IBM Master Plan was approved and the Police Facility 
commenced construction. 
o The Autumn Pond development, which will see the construction of 300 apartments while 

at the same time improving the ecology of an existing pond, received final approval from 
the Planning Commission and the Zoning Board of Adjustment.  

o The old Peoples United Bank site at the Five Corners received approval for the 
demolition of the existing structure and the erection of a new four story building with 
retail and commercial spaces on the ground level, apartments above, and underground 
parking.   

o Work on the planning of the Crescent Connector Road continued and it is scheduled to 
commence construction in 2015.  Grant funding was received for a new Multiuse path 
that will connect the High School to the Village Center. The path is scheduled for 
construction summer 2014. 

o A Tree Advisory Board to increase awareness of the benefits of trees and to give advice 
on trees in the public ROW was created.  A Bike/Walk Committee was also formed.  
They will develop a best practice strategy for the provision and use of bike and pedestrian 
facilities in the Village.  

o The Village is looking at the potential to reduce through truck traffic in the Village 
Center and make the core of our community more welcoming to pedestrians and cyclists 
while accommodating vehicular traffic, and enhancing economic and social opportunity.  
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•  The Village continues to seek grant money to supplement tax revenues.  The Village has 

received a grant from the Chittenden County Regional Planning Commission (CCRPC) for 
$139,000 for a path from Central Street to North Street along the rail path (called the Multi-use 
Safety Path).  We have also been awarded an additional grant for $250,000 from the Vermont 
Transportation Agency (VTrans) for this project. The project is in the design phase. The 
Crescent Connector Road project is progressing with the State of Vermont committing 
$4,500,000 with no match to this project.  We are also, through the Circ Alternative task force, 
optimistic that we will receive funds for the “Missing Link” project which will improve 
transportation and lighting from Post Office Square to the Five Corners.  The Lincoln St. 
Sidewalk Extension Project which is funded by two grants, one from CCRPC for $118,640 and 
one from VTrans for $220,000, was completed in the fall of 2013.  The Orton Heart and Soul 
Grant which is a community planning grant awarded to the Town of Essex and the Village of 
Essex Junction will be wrapping up very soon. 

• The FY14 General Fund budget increased by 2.71% from the FY13 budget.  The tax rate 
increased by 4.3% from $0.2554 to $0.2666.  At this time in January 2014, the Trustees are 
formulating the FY15 budget.  The draft FY15 budget proposes a 3.7% increase at this time 
which will necessitate approximately a 3.9% increase in the tax rate.  The Trustees are also 
considering placing a bond vote on the Village Meeting ballot to fund some pressing 
infrastructure maintenance projects. 

•  Capital projects being undertaken or continued in FY14 and their budgeted or actual amounts, if 
available, include: 

 
o Multi-Use Safety Path - $550,527 budget.  
o Crescent Connector Road – budget $4,500,000 to be funded by Vt. Dept. of Transportation 
o Lincoln St. Sidewalk Extension – budget $376,576 to be funded 80% by grants from CCRPC 

and VTrans.  Project is nearly complete. 
o Village Office Renovations $34,212 (actual from Capital Reserve) 
o Fire House Roof - $23,555 (actual) 
o Woods End Reconstruction - $730,377 (budget) 
o Paving – $125,000 budget –  Warner Ave., Willeys Court, Grandview Ave., Jones Ave., and 

Williams St. and a portion of Beech St. 
 

In FY14 the rate structure for water/sewer/sanitation billing changed from semi-annual billing based 
on water usage with a minimum of 1500 cubic feet to quarterly billing with quarterly fixed charges 
per unit plus usage.  Residential dwellings are classified as 1 unit while commercial buildings are 
assessed a number of units based on prior year’s water usage.  The rate structure had minimal effect 
on average users.  Minimum users saw their water/sewer/sanitation bills increase while higher users’ 
bills were reduced a small amount.  The reason for this effect was that minimum users had not been 
paying enough to cover the fixed costs of providing water/sewer service.  The FY14 
water/sewer/sanitation rates are as follows:   
 

Quarterly Fixed Charges   Usage Charges 
  

Water    $21.05/unit   $0.0140/cubic foot water usage 
Wastewater Treatment  $24.42/unit   $0.0089/cubic foot water usage 
Sanitation    $21.00/unit   $0.0047/cubic foot water usage 
Total    $66.47/unit   $0.0276/cubic foot water usage 
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This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Village of Essex Junction, 
Vermont’s financial condition.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report 
or requests for additional information should be addressed to the Village Finance Director, Village 
of Essex Junction, 2 Lincoln Street, Essex Junction, Vermont 05452. 



Exhibit A

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,441,033 $ 2,471,864 $ 3,912,897
Receivables (Net of Allowance for
 Uncollectibles) 132,858 812,790 945,648
Inventories 59,728 17,014 76,742
Internal Balances 22 (22) 0
Prepaid Expenses 30,269 20,739 51,008
Capital Assets  

Land 55,742 118,077 173,819
Construction in Progress 421,930 10,286,596 10,708,526
Antiques and Works of Art 7,550 0 7,550
Other Capital Assets, (Net of 
 Accumulated Depreciation) 11,488,399 10,122,077 21,610,476

Total Assets 13,637,531 23,849,135 37,486,666

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 152,297 2,216,337 2,368,634
Accrued Payroll and Benefits Payable 28,754 12,016 40,770
Unearned Revenue 1,428 0 1,428
Accrued Interest 0 4,234 4,234
Noncurrent Liabilities:

Due Within One Year 50,000 122,138 172,138
Due in More than One Year 339,824 9,961,060 10,300,884

Total Liabilities 572,303 12,315,785 12,888,088

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Prepaid Property Taxes 1,658 0 1,658

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,658 0 1,658

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 11,723,620 12,136,777 23,860,397
Restricted 5,424 0 5,424
Unrestricted/(Deficit) 1,334,526 (603,427) 731,099

Total Net Position $ 13,063,570 $ 11,533,350 $ 24,596,920

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Activities
Governmental

Activities



Exhibit B

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-Type

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Functions/Programs:
Governmental Activities:

General Government $ 351,276 $ 108,155 $ 0 $ 1,550 $ (241,571) $ 0 $ (241,571)
Public Safety 352,888 6,231 0 114,895 (231,762) 0 (231,762)
Public Works 1,153,369 9,782 113,128 256,671 (773,788) 0 (773,788)
Community Development 304,947 2,481 15,997 15,000 (271,469) 0 (271,469)
Culture and Recreation 728,958 4,564 20,596 8,481 (695,317) 0 (695,317)

Total Governmental Activities 2,891,438 131,213 149,721 396,597 (2,213,907) 0 (2,213,907)

Business-Type Activities:
Water 2,953,998 3,006,319 0 0 0 52,321 52,321
Sanitation 490,995 614,335 0 202,690 0 326,030 326,030
Wastewater 1,734,773 1,724,199 350 543,143 0 532,919 532,919

 
Total Business-Type Activities 5,179,766 5,344,853 350 745,833 0 911,270 911,270

Total $ 8,071,204 $ 5,476,066 $ 150,071 $ 1,142,430 (2,213,907) 911,270 (1,302,637)

General Revenues:
Property Taxes 2,667,252 0 2,667,252
Payment in Lieu of Taxes 64,657 0 64,657
Interest and Penalties on Delinquent  Taxes 10,855 0 10,855
Unrestricted Investment Earnings 3,051 5,189 8,240
Other Revenues 6,051 0 6,051
Gain on Sale of Capital Asset 500 0 500

Total General Revenues 2,752,366 5,189 2,757,555

Change in Net Position 538,459 916,459 1,454,918

Net Position - July 1, 2012 12,525,111 10,616,891 23,142,002

Net Position - June 30, 2013 $ 13,063,570 $ 11,533,350 $ 24,596,920

(17)

VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Exhibit C

Rolling
Capital Stock Other Total

General Reserve Reserve Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

ASSETS

Cash $ 567,127 $ 487,695 $ 280,542 $ 105,669 $ 1,441,033
Receivables (Net of Allowance for
 Uncollectibles) 48,284 84,574 0 0 132,858
Due from Other Funds 22 0 0 0 22
Inventories 59,728 0 0 0 59,728
Prepaid Expenses 30,269 0 0 0 30,269

 
Total Assets $ 705,430 $ 572,269 $ 280,542 $ 105,669 $ 1,663,910

LIABILITIES

 Accounts Payable $ 83,110 $ 69,187 $ 0 $ 0 $ 152,297
 Accrued Payroll and Benefits Payable 27,001 0 0 0 27,001

Due to Others 1,753 0 0 0 1,753
Unearned Revenue 1,428 0 0 0 1,428

 
Total Liabilities 113,292 69,187 0 0 182,479

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Prepaid Property Taxes 1,658 0 0 0 1,658
Unavailable Property Taxes 28,400 0 0 0 28,400
Unavailable Grant Revenue 2,273 47,144 0 0 49,417
Unavailable Other Revenues 5,743 0 0 0 5,743

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 38,074 47,144 0 0 85,218

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable 89,997 0 0 0 89,997
Restricted 0 0 0 5,424 5,424
Committed 0 455,938 280,542 100,245 836,725
Assigned 118,059 0 0 0 118,059
Unassigned 346,008 0 0 0 346,008

   
Total Fund Balances 554,064 455,938 280,542 105,669 1,396,213

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
 of Resources and 
 Fund Balances $ 705,430 $ 572,269 $ 280,542 $ 105,669

Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Position are Different Because:

 Capital Assets Used in Governmental Activities are not Financial Resources and, Therefore, are not
 Reported in the Funds.  11,973,621

Other Assets are not Available to Pay for Current-Period Expenditures, and, Therefore,  
 are Deferred in the Funds.  83,560

Long-Term and Accrued Liabilities  are not Due or Payable in the
 Current Period and, Therefore, are Not Reported in the Funds. (389,824)

Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 13,063,570

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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 Exhibit D

Rolling
Capital Stock Other Total

General Reserve Reserve Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Funds

Revenues:
Property Taxes $ 2,652,852 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 2,652,852
Payment in Lieu of Taxes 64,657 0 0 0 64,657
Penalties and Interest 10,855 0 0 0  10,855
Intergovernmental Revenues 163,441 202,718 100,000 0 466,159
Charges for Services 332,866 0 0 0 332,866
Investment Income 1,644 639 558 210 3,051
Fines and Forfeits 3,708 0 0 0 3,708
Licenses and Permits 60,199 0 0 0 60,199
Contributions 18,828 27,000 0 630 46,458
Other Revenue 5,901 0 0 0 5,901

       Total Revenues 3,314,951 230,357 100,558 840 3,646,706

Expenditures:
Current:
  General Government 635,036 705 0 0 635,741
  Public Safety 284,929 0 300 0 285,229
  Public Works 732,327 3,742 0 0 736,069
  Community Development 285,580 0 0 0 285,580
  Culture & Recreation 611,739 0 0 0 611,739
Debt Service: 0 0
  Principal 0 0 22,000 0 22,000
  Interest 0 0 440 0 440
Capital Outlay: 0
  General Government 28,575 30,172 0 0 58,747
  Public Safety 8,790 0 829,736 0 838,526
  Public Works 22,220 451,916 129,177 0 603,313
  Community Development 0 7,612 0 0 7,612
  Culture & Recreation 61,399 0 0 0 61,399

          Total Expenditures 2,670,595 494,147 981,653 0 4,146,395

Excess/(Deficiency) of Revenues 
  Over Expenditures 644,356 (263,790) (881,095) 840 (499,689)

Other Financing Sources/(Uses):
Proceeds of Long-Term Debt 0 0 250,000 0 250,000
Proceeds from the Sale of Capital Assets 500 0 80,000 0 80,500
Transfers In 0 372,788 213,624 0 586,412
Transfers Out (586,412) 0 0 0 (586,412)

          Total Other Financing
               (Uses)      Sources/(Uses)  (585,912) 372,788 543,624 0 330,500

Net Change in Fund Balances 58,444 108,998 (337,471) 840 (169,189)

Fund Balances - July 1, 2012 495,620  346,940  618,013  104,829 1,565,402

Fund Balances - June 30, 2013 $ 554,064 $ 455,938 $ 280,542 $ 105,669 $ 1,396,213
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Exhibit E

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities (Exhibit B) are
different because:

Net change in fund balances - total government funds (Exhibit D) $ (169,189)

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement
of activities, the cost of those assets ($1,569,596) is allocated over their estimated useful
lives and reported as depreciation expense ($620,289).  This is the amount by which 
capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period. 949,307

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets
(i.e., sales, gain/(loss) on disposals, trade-ins and donations) is to decrease net assets. (81,558)

The issuance of long-term debt ($250,000) (e.g., bond, notes and capital leases) provides
current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal
of long-term debt ($22,000) consumes the current financial resources of governmental
funds. Neither transaction, however has any effect on net assets.  This amount is the net effect
of those differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items. (228,000)

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources
are not reported as revenues in the funds.  This amount reflects the decrease in 
deferred revenues from the prior year. 51,565

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of  
current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds. 16,334

Change in net position of governmental activities (Exhibit B) $ 538,459

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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   Variance
Approved Amended   Favorable

Budget Budget  Actual (Unfavorable)
Revenue:

Current Property Taxes $ 2,666,989 $ 2,666,989 $ 2,652,852 $ (14,137)
State of VT PILOT & Current Use 2,000 2,000 4,079 2,079
Penalties and Interest On Delinquent Taxes 7,000 7,000 10,855 3,855
IBM Subsidy 60,578 60,578 60,578 0
Licenses & Zoning Fees 30,000 30,000 60,199 30,199
Water Department Service Fees 110,169 110,169 110,169 0
Wastewater Service Fees 55,085 55,085 55,085 0
Sanitation Service Fees 110,169 110,169 110,169 0
State District Court Fines 2,000 2,000 3,709 1,709
State Highway Aid 100,000 100,000 113,128 13,128
Essex Junction School District  
 Tax Collection Fees 47,000 47,000 47,956 956
Lincoln Hall Rentals 0 0 1 1
Parking Space Fees 4,800 4,800 4,400 (400)
Miscellaneous Fire Receipts 0 0 1,231 1,231
Miscellaneous Street Receipts 3,000 3,000 2,850 (150)
Miscellaneous Library Receipts 450 450 708 258
Brownell Library Grants 0 0 1,937 1,937
Donation to Brownell Library 0 0 7,329 7,329
Donations to Block Party 1,500 1,500 1,550 50
Essex Town Library Contribution 15,000 15,000 15,000 0
Investment Interest 1,000 1,000 1,644 644
Miscellaneous State Grants 0 0 8,408 8,408
Miscellaneous Grants and Donations 0 0 9,790 9,790
Miscellaneous Unclassified Receipts 4,600 4,600 2,343 (2,257)
Library Replacement Receipts 0 0 3,855 3,855
Homeland Security Grant 02140-79152-542 0 0 16,609 16,609
Homeland Security Grant 02140-70164V-126 0 0 8,517 8,517
Sale of Capital Asset 0 0 500 500

Total Revenue 3,221,340 3,221,340 3,315,451 94,111

Expenditures:
Administration:

Salaries - Regular 334,477 334,477 311,912 22,565
Salaries - Overtime 1,000 1,000 1,365 (365)
Salaries - Part-Time 7,250 7,250 13,207 (5,957)
Social Security 26,923 26,923 25,342 1,581
Unemployment Insurance 1,186 1,186 962 224
Workers Compensation Insurance 1,166 1,166 1,210 (44)
Health Insurance and Other Benefits 66,340 66,340 59,436 6,904
Retirement 38,506 38,506 38,648 (142)
Liability and Property Insurance 5,857 5,857 5,720 137
Public Officials Liability Insurance 6,075 6,075 5,981 94
Health Improvement Programs 1,600 1,600 1,775 (175)
Board Member Fees 2,500 2,500 2,500 0
Supplies 6,700 6,700 4,624  2,076
Postage  4,600 4,600 3,986 614
Computer Expenses  16,915 16,915 17,552  (637)
Training & Conferences 13,304 13,304 6,602  6,702
Telephone Services 4,392 4,392 2,621 1,771

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Variance
Approved Amended   Favorable

Budget Budget  Actual (Unfavorable)
Expenditures:

Administration/(Cont'd):
Communications $ 13,700 $ 13,700 $ 12,203 $ 1,497
Vehicle Maintenance - Travel 3,600 3,600 900 2,700
Village Promotion 1,000 1,000 268 732
Interview Costs 0 0 155 (155)
Leased Services 4,540 4,540 4,298 242
Legal Fees 15,000 15,000 14,026 974
Other Professional Services 2,000 2,000 0 2,000
Audit Service 5,275 5,275 5,352 (77)
Printing and Advertising 5,800 5,800 4,777 1,023
Pay & Classification Study 200 200 0 200
Elections 2,200 2,200 1,578 622
Holiday Expense 1,280 1,280 1,135 145
Trustees Expenditures 4,000 4,000 5,472 (1,472)
Capital Outlay 3,000 0 4,917 (4,917)

Total Administration 600,386 597,386 558,524 38,862

Lincoln Hall:
Liability and Property Insurance 5,510 5,510 4,469 1,041
Supplies 1,800 1,800 2,475 (675)
Water and Sewer Charges 1,000 1,000 2,007 (1,007)
Telephone Services 480 480 496 (16)
Electrical Service 6,510 6,510 7,997 (1,487)
Heating 7,000 7,000 5,507 1,493
Maintenance - Buildings/Grounds 6,500 6,500 7,559 (1,059)
Rubbish Removal 1,750 1,750 1,785 (35)
Contractual Services 7,503 7,503 8,087 (584)
Capital Outlay 0 0 11,754 (11,754)

Total Lincoln Hall 38,053 38,053 52,136 (14,083)

Fire Department:
Salaries - Part-time Firefighters  126,000 126,000 126,818  (818)
Social Security 9,639 9,639 9,662 (23)
Worker's Compensation Insurance 12,000 12,000 24,034 (12,034)
Accident & Disability Insurance 3,600 3,600 3,600 0
Liability and Property Insurance 8,600 8,600 7,326 1,274

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT

GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013
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VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR  ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

   Variance
Approved Amended   Favorable

Budget Budget  Actual (Unfavorable)
Fire Department/(Cont'd):

Supplies $ 2,400 $ 2,400 $ 1,637 $ 763
EMS Supplies 1,800 1,800 1,061 739
Gas, Oil and Grease 5,400 5,400 7,112 (1,712)
Water and Sewer Charges 900 900 888  12
Training and Conferences 5,000 5,000 2,900 2,100
Telephone Services 4,000 4,000 3,433 567
Electrical Service 6,600 6,600 6,283 317
Heating 6,000 6,000 4,817 1,183
Maintenance - Buildings/Grounds 5,000 5,000 1,806 3,194
Radio Maintenance 2,000 2,000 6,295 (4,295)
Maintenance - Other 10,000 10,000 12,795 (2,795)
Vehicle Maintenance - Travel 10,000 10,000 21,217 (11,217)
Emergency Generator Maintenance 750 750 375 375
Uniforms and Boots 18,000 18,000 16,079 1,921
Fire Prevention 1,800 1,800 1,652 148
Physical Exams 6,000 6,000 4,197 1,803
Employee Assistance Program 900 900 864 36
Hydrant Rental 5,000 5,000 5,000 0
New Equipment - Radios 4,300 4,300 0 4,300
Routine Equipment Purchases 14,500 14,500 10,817 3,683

Total Fire Department 270,189 270,189 280,668 (10,479)
 
Street Department:

Salaries - Regular 190,875 186,875 161,941 24,934
Salaries - Overtime 15,000 15,000 14,383 617
Salaries - Part-time 17,018 17,018 17,335 (317)
Social Security 17,249 17,249 14,274 2,975
Unemployment Insurance  1,086 1,086 865  221
Worker's Compensation Insurance 11,628 11,628 9,798 1,830
Health Insurance and Other Benefits 77,761 77,761 63,337 14,424
Employee Retirement 19,088 19,088 16,141 2,947
Liability and Property Insurance 14,100 14,100 12,057 2,043
Supplies 21,100 16,100 10,129 5,971
Winter Maintenance 75,000 75,000 83,243 (8,243)
Pavement Maintenance 15,000 15,000 14,804 196
Gravel and Topsoil 4,500 4,500 5,830 (1,330)
Signs and Posts 5,500 5,500 2,668 2,832
Gas, Grease and Oil 22,000 22,000 31,766 (9,766)
Water and Sewer Charge 1,500 1,500 1,197 303
Training and Conferences 500 500 250 250
Telephone Services 1,800 1,800 1,725 75
Electrical Service 4,900 4,900 3,752 1,148
Street Lights 131,840 131,840 121,730 10,110

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

   Variance
Approved Amended   Favorable

Budget Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
Street Department/(Cont'd):

Traffic Lights $ 5,700 $ 5,700 $ 6,170 $ (470)
Heating 4,000 4,000 3,184 816
Maintenance - Buildings/Grounds  2,500 2,500 3,596  (1,096)
Radio Maintenance 200 200 65 135
Maintenance - Other 1,000 1,000 1,545 (545)
Vehicle Maintenance - Travel 32,000 32,000 17,716 14,284
Streetscape Maintenance/ Improvements 7,500 7,500 4,377 3,123
Village Garden Spots 2,500 2,500 2,343 157
Traffic/Street Light Maintenance 6,500 6,500 11,360 (4,860)
Memorial Park 3,000 3,000 2,816 184
Street Markings 5,000 5,000 8,205 (3,205)
Uniforms, Boots, Etc. 4,500 4,500 2,544 1,956
Rubbish Removal 6,200 6,200 5,290 910
Contract Services 10,000 10,000 10,726 (726)
Equipment Rentals 3,800 3,800 3,693 107
Engineering Services 15,000 15,000 31,616 (16,616)
Traffic Calming 1,000 1,000 232 768
Capital Outlay 2,000 2,000 1,735 265
Sidewalk and Curb Maintenance 3,000 3,000 5,135 (2,135)
Storm Sewer Maintenance 8,500 8,500 18,842 (10,342)
Storm Sewer Permit Fees 3,000 3,000 4,697 (1,697)
Storm Sewer Public Education 10,000 10,000 7,313 2,687

Total Street Department 784,345 775,345 740,425 34,920

Library:
Salaries - Regular 292,359 292,359 292,591 (232)
Salaries - Part-Time 88,282 88,282 86,567 1,715
Social Security 29,551 29,551 28,826 725
Unemployment Insurance 2,384 2,384 2,235 149
Workers Compensation Insurance 1,285 1,285 1,389 (104)
Health Insurance and Other Benefits 55,586 55,586 49,093 6,493
Retirement 29,236 29,236 29,089 147
Liability and Property Insurance 10,269 10,269 9,390 879
Supplies 13,500 13,500 13,274 226
Postage 2,500 2,500 3,452 (952)
Computer Expenses 3,500 3,500 3,641 (141)
Water and Sewer Charge 525 525 870 (345)
Training and Conferences 2,000 2,000 3,362 (1,362)
Telephone Services 2,000 2,000 1,092 908
Technology Access 5,810 5,810 5,059 751
Electrical Services 14,850 14,850 14,553 297
Heating 7,500 7,500 7,335 165

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

   Variance
Approved Amended   Favorable

Budget Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
Library/(Cont'd):

Maintenance - Building/Grounds $ 13,000 $ 13,000 $ 14,546 $ (1,546)
Alarm System Maintenance 800 800 292 508
Interview Costs 300 300 249 51
Contract Services 22,548 22,548 22,469  79
Adult Programs 300 300 322 (22)
Childrens Programs 3,000 3,000 3,061 (61)
Computer Replacement 8,000 5,200 5,196 4
Adult Collection - Print & Electronic 31,000 31,000 32,706 (1,706)
Juvenile Collection - Print & Electronic 15,500 15,500 16,402 (902)

Total Library 655,585 652,785 647,061 5,724

Planning and Zoning:
Salaries -Regular  119,296 119,296 124,235  (4,939)
Salaries - Overtime 2,000 2,000 218 1,782
Social Security 9,560 9,560 9,666 (106)
Unemployment Insurance 435 435 399 36
Workers Compensation Insurance 399 399 439 (40)
Health Insurance and Other Benefits 40,972 40,972 25,170 15,802
Retirement 11,930 11,930 11,978 (48)
Liability Insurance and Property Insurance 2,038 2,038 2,006 32
Public Officials Liability Insurance 6,075 6,075 5,981 94
Boardmember Fee 3,600 3,600 3,525 75
Supplies 2,000 2,000 1,340 660
Postage 1,000 1,000 438 562
Computer Expenses 4,705 4,705 3,748 957
Training and Conferences 5,450 5,450 2,395 3,055
Telephone Services 1,392 1,392 1,597 (205)
Communications 2,000 2,000 1,020 980
Vehicle Maintenance - Travel 3,000 3,000 2,400 600
Legal Services 9,500 9,500 2,261 7,239
Other Professional Services 10,000 10,000 4,449 5,551
Printing and Advertising 5,000 5,000 2,045 2,955
Recording Fees 2,500 2,500 1,900 600
Capital Outlay 1,500 0 0 0

Total Planning and Zoning 244,352 242,852 207,210 35,642

Economic Development:
Salaries Regular 0 32,573 28,781 3,792
Salaries Overtime 0 0 70 (70)
Salaries Part Time 23,400 0 3,553 (3,553)
Social Security 1,790 2,491 2,678 (187)
Unemployment Insurance 217 250 247 3
Workers Comp Insurance 111 120 108 12
Health Ins & Other Benefits 0 3,127 2,858 269
Retirement 0 3,257 3,058 199
Block Party Expenses 7,000 7,000 7,057 (57)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Approved Amended   Favorable
Budget Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

Economic Development/(Cont'd):
Community Events & Programs $ 7,000 $ 7,000 $ 8,155 $ (1,155)
Annual Support of Organizations 8,000 8,000 7,443 557
Community Forum 7,500 7,500 7,500 0
New Programs 2,000 2,000 1,092 908
Matching Grant Funds 10,000 10,000 2,683 7,317

Total Economic Development 67,018 83,318 75,283 8,035

Miscellaneous Transfers and Expenditures:
Rolling Stock Fund 163,624 163,624 163,624  0
Capital Reserve Fund 372,788 372,788 372,788 0
Half Penny for Ladder Truck Note 50,000 50,000 50,000 0
Termination Benefits 10,000 10,000 0 10,000

Total Miscellaneous Transfers 
 and Expenditures 596,412 596,412 586,412 10,000

Grant and Other Unanticipated Expenditures:
Tax Abatement 0 0 2,141 (2,141)
Library Replacement Expenditures 0 0 4,017 (4,017)
Library Grant Expenditures 0 0 1,937 (1,937)
Library Donation Expenditures 0 0 5,957 (5,957)
Fire Department Grant Expenditures 0 0 13,051 (13,051)
Street Department Grant Expenditures 0 0 14,348 (14,348)
Other Donations Expenditures 0 0 4,219 (4,219)
Other Grants Expenditures 0 0 6,085 (6,085)
Termination Benefits 0 0 36,000 (36,000)
FY12 Designated Expense 0 0 21,533 (21,533)

Total Grant and Other Unanticipated Expenditures 0 0 109,288 (109,288)

Total Expenditures 3,256,340 3,256,340 3,257,007 (667)

Excess/(Deficiency) of Revenue 
 Over Expenditures $ (35,000) $ (35,000)  58,444 $ 93,444

Fund Balance - July 1, 2012 495,620

Fund Balance - June 30, 2013 $ 554,064

The amended budgets are approved by the Board of Trustees

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Exhibit G

Water Sanitation Wastewater  
Fund Fund Fund Total 

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash $ 138,096 $ 1,009,672 $ 1,324,096 $ 2,471,864
Receivables (Net of Allowance for
 Uncollectible Accounts) 18,348 17,968 65,346 101,662
Estimated Unbilled Revenues 397,462 137,178 176,488 711,128
Due from Other Funds 0 13,841 0 13,841
Inventories 771 0 16,243 17,014
Other Current Assets 3,756 8,562 8,421 20,739

     Total Current Assets 558,433 1,187,221 1,590,594 3,336,248

Noncurrent Assets:
Capital Assets
   Land 0 0 118,077 118,077
  Construction in Progress 0 0 10,286,596 10,286,596
  Buildings and Building Improvements 40,000 0 8,303,215 8,343,215
  Vehicles, Machinery and Equipment 327,099 430,554 2,271,423 3,029,076
   Infrastructure 0 0 45,539 45,539
  Transmission and Distribution Plant 8,022,882 8,225,614 0 16,248,496
  Less Accumulated Depreciation (6,752,883) (5,217,673) (5,573,693) (17,544,249)

     Total Noncurrent Assets 1,637,098 3,438,495 15,451,157 20,526,750

          Total Assets $ 2,195,531 $ 4,625,716 $ 17,041,751 $ 23,862,998

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable $ 228,549 $ 8,104 $ 1,979,684 $ 2,216,337
Accrued Payroll and Benefits Payable 2,759 2,283 6,974 12,016
Due to Other Funds 0 0 13,863 13,863
Interest Payable 0 0 4,234 4,234
Notes Payable - Current Portion 0 10,418 111,720 122,138

     Total Current Liabilities 231,308 20,805 2,116,475 2,368,588

Noncurrent Liabilities
Accrued Compensated Absences Payable 8,713 6,045 43,467 58,225
Notes  Payable - Noncurrent Portion 0 1,306,248 8,596,587 9,902,835

     Total Noncurrent Liabilities 8,713 1,312,293 8,640,054 9,961,060

          Total Liabilities 240,021 1,333,098 10,756,529 12,329,648

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 1,637,098 2,121,829 8,377,850 12,136,777
Unrestricted/(Deficit) 318,412 1,170,789 (2,092,628) (603,427)

     Total Net Position 1,955,510 3,292,618 6,285,222 11,533,350

     Total Liabilities and Net Position $ 2,195,531 $ 4,625,716 $ 17,041,751 $ 23,862,998

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Exhibit H

Water Sanitation Wastewater  
Fund Fund Fund Total 

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services $ 2,987,373 $ 503,103 $ 955 $ 3,491,431
Miscellaneous 18,946 107,731 1,723,595 1,850,272

Total Operating Revenues 3,006,319 610,834 1,724,550 5,341,703

Operating Expenses:
Operating, Maintenance, and General
     and Administrative Expenses 2,859,520 352,520 1,381,763 4,593,803
Depreciation 94,477 133,809 292,081 520,367

Total Operating Expenses 2,953,997 486,329 1,673,844 5,114,170

Operating Income 52,322 124,505 50,706 227,533

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Investment Income 157 1,564 3,468 5,189
Net Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets 0 0 (7,040) (7,040)
Net Gain on Sale of Capital Assets 0 3,500 0 3,500
Interest Expense 0 (4,666) (53,890) (58,556)

  Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 157 398 (57,462) (56,907)

Income/(Loss) Before Capital Contributions
 and Transfers 52,479 124,903 (6,756) 170,626

Capital Contributions 0 202,690 543,143 745,833
Transfer In 0 13,780 40,062 53,842
Transfers Out 0 (40,062) (13,780) (53,842)

Change in Net Position 52,479 301,311 562,669 916,459

Net Position -  July 1, 2012 1,903,031 2,991,307 5,722,553 10,616,891

Net Position - June 30, 2013 $ 1,955,510 $ 3,292,618 $ 6,285,222 $ 11,533,350

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Exhibit I

Water Sanitation
Fund Fund Fund Total

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Receipts from Customers and Users $ 3,047,477 $ 610,474 $ 1,676,097 $ 5,334,048
Receipts for Interfund Services 5,000 0 24,800 29,800
Other Receipts 366 0 604 970
Payments to Suppliers (2,598,633) (64,189) (753,419) (3,416,241)
Payments for Interfund Services (110,169) (135,111) (55,085) (300,365)
Payments for Wages and Benefits (169,397) (143,826) (478,524) (791,747)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 174,644 267,348 414,473 856,465

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:
Principal Paid on Note Payable 0 0 (50,000) (50,000)
Interest Paid on Note Payable 0 0 (3,023) (3,023)
Interest Paid on Pooled Cash (48) 0 (160) (208)
Increase/(Decrease) in Due to/from Other Funds 0 (10,094) 10,094 0

Net Cash Provided/(Used) by Noncapital
   Financing Activities (48) (10,094) (43,089) (53,231)

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Proceeds from Capital Grants 0 102,690 473,054 575,744
Contributed Capital 0 0 70,089 70,089
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Asset 0 3,500 0 3,500
Proceeds from Sale of WWTF Capacity 0 100,000 0 100,000
Proceeds from Long-Term Debt 0 977,696 6,215,861 7,193,557
Acquisition and Construction of Capital Assets (166,294) (978,602) (7,654,211) (8,799,107)
Principal Paid on Long-Term Debt 0 (10,213) (61,687) (71,900)
Interest Paid on Long-Term Debt 0 (4,666) (51,157) (55,823)
Interfund transfers for Capital Purposes 0 (40,062) 40,062 0
Increase/(Decrease) in Due To/From Other Funds
 for Capital Purposes 0 (61) 61 0

Net Cash Provided/(Used) by Capital and 
 Related Financing Activities (166,294) 150,282 (967,928) (983,940)

    
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:  

Receipt of Interest & Dividends 206 1,563 3,628 5,397

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 206 1,563 3,628 5,397

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 8,508 409,099 (592,916) (175,309)
 
Cash - July 1, 2012 129,588 600,573 1,917,012 2,647,173
 
Cash - June 30, 2013 $ 138,096 $ 1,009,672 $ 1,324,096 $ 2,471,864

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income/(Loss) to Net Cash
  Provided by Operating Activities:

 
Operating Income $ 52,322 $ 124,505 $ 50,706 $ 227,533
Depreciation 94,477 133,809 292,081 520,367
(Increase)/Decrease in Other Receivables 3,604 (2,507) (45,231)           (44,134)
(Increase)/Decrease in Unbilled Revenues 42,919 2,147 22,183 67,249
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventory (257) 0 7,476 7,219
Increase/(Decrease) in Accounts Payable (18,735) 6,425 91,569 79,259
Increase/(Decrease) in Accrued Payroll  
 and Compensated Absences 281 3,467 (3,947) (199)
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Operating Assets/Liabilities 33 (498) (364) (829)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 174,644 $ 267,348 $ 414,473 $ 856,465

Supplemental Information:

Vehicles with a cost of $85,840 and accumulated depreciation of $53,869 in the Water Fund were traded in during the year. 
Equipment with a cost of $100,572 and accumulated depreciation of $93,532 in the Wastewater Fund was disposed of during the year. 
$1,839,463 and $179,111 of capital assets purchases are included in accounts payable at June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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ASSETS

Cash $ 2,001

Total Assets 2,001

LIABILITIES

Due to Other Organizations 2,001

Total Liabilities 2,001

NET POSITION $ 0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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The Village of Essex Junction, Vermont, (herein the "Village") operates under a Board of 
Trustees-Manager form of government and provides the following services as authorized by its 
charter:  public safety, library, highways and streets, sanitation, health and social services, 
culture and recreation, community/economic development, public improvements, planning and 
zoning, water, sanitation, wastewater treatment and general administrative services. 
 
I.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The accounting policies adopted by the Village of Essex Junction (the “Village”) conform to 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applicable to governmental entities.  The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing accounting and financial reporting principles.  The following is a summary of the 
more significant accounting policies employed in the preparation of these financial statements.  
 
A.  The Financial Reporting Entity 
 
This report includes all of the funds of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont.  The reporting 
entity consists of the primary government; organizations for which the primary government is 
financially accountable; and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their 
relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would cause the reporting 
entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.  Component units are legally 
separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary government are financially 
accountable.  The primary government is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority 
of the organization’s governing body and it is able to impose its will on that organization or there 
is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or burdens on the 
primary government.  The primary government may be financially accountable if an organization 
is fiscally dependent on the primary government.  Based on these criteria, there are no other 
entities that should be combined with the financial statements of the Village. 
 
B.  Basis of Presentation 
 
The accounts of the Village are organized and operated on the basis of fund accounting.  A fund 
is an independent fiscal and accounting entity with a separate set of self-balancing accounts 
which comprise its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate.  Government 
resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for 
which they are spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.   
 
The basic financial statements of the Village include both government-wide statements and fund 
financial statements.  The focus of the government-wide statements is on reporting the operating 
results and financial position of the Village as a whole and present a longer-term view of the 
Village’s finances.  The focus of the fund financial statements is on reporting on the operating 
results and financial position of the most significant funds of the Village and present a shorter-
term view of how operations were financed and what remains available for future spending.   
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Government-wide Statements:  The statement of net position and the statement of activities 
display information about the primary government, the Village.  These statements include the 
financial activities of the overall government, except for fiduciary activities.  Eliminations have 
been made to minimize the double counting of activities between funds.   These statements 
distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the Village.  Governmental 
activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other 
nonexchange transactions.  Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees 
charged to external parties. 
 
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues 
for each function of the Village’s governmental activities and for each segment of the Village’s 
business-type activities.  Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a 
program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular program or function.  
Program revenues include (a) charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the 
programs and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular program.  Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, 
including all taxes, are presented as general revenues. 
 
Fund Financial Statements:  The fund financial statements provide information about the 
Village’s funds, including fiduciary funds.  Separate statements for each fund category – 
governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary – are presented.  The emphasis of fund financial 
statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column.  
All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds.   
 
The Village reports on the following major governmental funds: 
 

General Fund – This is the Village’s main operating fund.  It accounts for all financial 
resources of the Village except those accounted for in another fund. 

 
Capital Reserve Fund – This fund accounts for the general capital expenditures of the 

Village. 
 
Rolling Stock Reserve Fund – This fund accounts for general rolling stock (vehicles) 

purchases of the Village. 
 

The Village reports on the following major enterprise funds: 
 

Water Fund – This fund accounts for the operations of the Water Department. 
 
Sanitation Fund – This fund accounts for the operations of the Sanitation Department. 
 
Wastewater Fund – This fund accounts for the operations of the Wastewater Department. 
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Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange 
transactions associated with the principal activity of the fund.  Exchange transactions are those in 
which each party receives and gives up essentially equal values.  Nonoperating revenues, such as 
subsidies and investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary activities.  
 
Additionally, the Village reports the following fund type: 
 
Agency Fund – This fund accounts for monies maintained for Exposition Escrow deposits. 
 
C.  Measurement Focus 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its 
measurement focus.  Government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported 
using the economic resources measurement focus.  This means that all assets, deferred outflows 
of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources associated with the operation of these 
funds (whether current or noncurrent) are included on the balance sheet (or statement of net 
position).  Equity (i.e., net total net position) is segregated into net investment in capital assets; 
restricted net position; and unrestricted net position.  Operating statements present increases (i.e., 
revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total net position.   
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus.  This means that only current assets, deferred outflows of resources, current 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources are generally reported on their balance sheets.  Their 
reported fund balances (net current position) are considered a measure of available spendable 
resources, and are segregated into nonspendable; restricted; committed; assigned and unassigned 
amounts.  Operating statements of these funds present increases (i.e., revenues and other 
financing sources) and decreases (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) in net current 
position.  Accordingly, they are said to present a summary of sources and uses of available 
spendable resources during a period. 
 
D.  Basis of Accounting 
 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the 
accounts and reported in the financial statements.  Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the 
measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.  
 
The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the accrual 
basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time 
the liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flow takes place.  Nonexchange 
transactions, in which the Village gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) 
equal value in exchange, include property taxes, grants, entitlements, and donations.  On the 
accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are 
levied.  Revenue from grants, entitlements, and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in 
which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.  
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Governmental funds are reported using the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Under this 
method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available.  “Measurable” means the 
amount of the transaction can be determined, and “available” means the amount is collectible 
within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current 
period.  The Village considers all revenues reported in governmental funds to be available if the 
revenues are collected within sixty days after year-end.  Expenditures are recorded when the 
related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, 
certain compensated absences and other long-term liabilities which are recognized when the 
obligations are expected to be liquidated or are funded with expendable available financial 
resources. 

 
General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  Proceeds 
of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing 
sources.  
  
Under the terms of grant agreements, the Village funds certain programs by a combination of 
specific cost-reimbursement grants and general revenues.  Thus, when program expenses are 
incurred, there are both restricted and unrestricted net assets available to finance the program.  It 
is the Village’s policy to first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such programs, 
followed by general revenues.  Expenditure driven grants are recognized as revenue when the 
qualifying expenditures have been incurred and other grant requirements have been met.  
 
E.  Use of Estimates 
 
The presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.   
 
F.  New Pronouncement – Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 
Effective June 30, 2013, the Village implemented GASB Statement No. 63, “Financial Reporting 
of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position”. GASB 
Statement No 63 provides financial reporting guidance for deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources, introduced and defined in GASB Concepts Statement No. 4. This 
statement amends the net asset reporting requirements in Statement No. 34, “Basic Financial 
Statements – and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments”, 
and other pronouncements by incorporating deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources into the definitions of the required components of the residual measure and by 
renaming that measure as net position, rather than net assets. 
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In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statements element, “deferred 
outflows of resources”, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) 
and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditures) until then. The 
Village did not have any items that qualified for reporting in this category. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, “deferred 
inflows of resources”, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) 
and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Village has 
four (4) types of items which arise under the modified accrual basis of accounting and one type 
which arises under the accrual basis of accounting that qualify for reporting in this category. 
Accordingly, the item, “unavailable revenue”, is reported in the statement of net position and 
governmental funds balance sheet. The statement of net position reports unavailable revenues 
from one source; prepaid property taxes. The governmental funds report unavailable revenues 
from four (4) sources; prepaid property taxes, unavailable property taxes, penalties and interest, 
unavailable grant revenue and other unavailable revenues. These amounts are deferred and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 
 
G.  Assets, Liabilities and Equity 
 
1.  Cash 
 
Cash balances of most Village funds are deposited with and invested by the Village Treasurer.  
The Village considers all short-term investments of ninety (90) days or less to be cash 
equivalents. 
  
2.  Investments 
 
The Village invests in investments as allowed by State Statute.  Investments with readily 
determinable fair values are reported at their fair values on the balance sheet.  Unrealized gains 
and losses are included in revenue. 
 
3.  Receivables 
 
Receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts for the estimated losses 
that will be incurred in the collection of the receivables.  The estimated losses are based on the 
judgment of management and a review of the current status of existing receivables.   
 
Unbilled revenues consist of revenues earned as of June 30, but not yet billed as of that date. 
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4.  Internal Balances 
 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at 
the end of the fiscal year are referred to as “interfund loan receivable/payable.” All other 
outstanding balances between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds”.  Any residual 
balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances”. 
 
5.  Inventories and Prepaid Expenses  
 
Inventory quantities are determined by physical count and are valued at the lower of cost or 
market.  Inventories in the Proprietary Funds consist of chemicals and materials. Inventory in the 
General Fund consists of salt and calcium chloride. 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs that are applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid expenses. 

 
Inventories and prepaid expenses of governmental funds in the fund financial statements are 
offset by a nonspendable fund balance as these are not in spendable form. 

 
6.  Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are reported at actual cost or estimated historical cost based on appraisals or 
deflated current replacement cost if purchased or constructed.  Contributed assets are recorded at 
their estimated fair value at the time received.  Major outlays for capital assets and improvements 
are capitalized as constructed.  Interest incurred during the construction phase for proprietary 
fund capital assets is reflected in the capitalized value of the asset constructed, net of any interest 
earned on the invested proceeds during the same period.  Interest is not capitalized during the 
construction phase of capital assets used in governmental activities.  The cost of normal 
maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the assets’ 
lives are not capitalized.  The Village has elected to report major general infrastructure assets 
constructed since 1990. 
 
Capital assets reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are 
depreciated in order that the cost of these assets will be charged to expenses over their estimated 
service lives, generally using the straight-line method of calculating depreciation. 
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Capitalization thresholds (the dollar values above which asset acquisitions are added to the 
capital asset accounts) and estimated useful lives of capital assets are as follows: 
 

Capitalization Estimated
Threshold Service Life

Land 1,000$         Not Depreciated
Antiques and Works of Art 1,000$         Not Depreciated
Buildings and Building Improvements 5,000$         40 Years
Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment , Furniture 
 and Traffic Signals 1,000$         8-20 Years
Library Books 1$                7 Years
Parks 5,000$         20-100 Years
Roads, Curbs, Sidewalks and Storm Sewers 5,000$         30-50 Years
Water, Sanitation and Wastewater 
 Distribution and Collection Systems 5,000$         60-100 Years

 
Capital assets are not reported in the governmental fund financial statements.  Capital outlays in 
these funds are recorded as expenditures in the year they are incurred. 
 
7.  Compensated Absences 
 
It is the Village’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and 
comp time benefits.  The Village also pays 50% of accumulated sick time over 800 hours at 
retirement if the employee has 15 years of service.  The maximum payout amount is limited to 
500 hours.   The Village evaluates all employees who have reached ten (10) years of service and, 
depending on accrued leave time at that point, determines if they will likely meet the eligibility 
threshold.  The accrual for unused compensated absences time, based on current pay rates, is 
recorded in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.  The liability for 
unused compensated absences is not reported in the governmental fund type financial statements.   
 
Payments for unused compensated absences are recorded as expenditures in the year they are 
paid. 
 
8. Noncurrent Liabilities 
 
Noncurrent liabilities are comprised of notes payable and compensated absences.  Noncurrent 
liabilities are reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.  
Governmental fund type financial statements do not include any noncurrent liabilities as those 
statements use the current financial resources measurement focus and only include current assets 
and liabilities on their balance sheets.   
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9.  Fund Equity 
 
Fund Balances and Net Position are classified based upon any restrictions that have been placed 
on those balances or any tentative plans management may have made for those balances.  
Restrictions of net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund type financial 
statements represent amounts that cannot be appropriated or are legally restricted for a specific 
purpose by a grant, contract, or other binding agreement.  Fund Balances of governmental funds 
are classified as nonspendable (not in spendable form or legally required to remain intact); 
restricted (constraints on the use of resources are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, 
or donors, or imposed by law through enabling legislation); committed (constraints on the use of 
resources are imposed by formal action of the voters); assigned (reflecting the Board of Trustee’s 
intended use of the resources); and unassigned. 

 
II.    EXPLANATION OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN GOVERNMENTAL FUND 
 AND GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS 
 
Governmental Fund financial statements are presented using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting, while government-wide 
financial statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting.  These differences in the measurement focus and basis of accounting 
lead to differences between the governmental fund financial statements and the government-wide 
financial statements as follows: 
 
Long-term revenue differences arise because governmental funds report revenues only when 
they are considered “available”, whereas government-wide statements report revenues when they 
are earned.  Long-term expense differences arise because governmental funds report 
expenditures (including interest) using the modified accrual basis of accounting, whereas 
government-wide statements report expenses using the accrual basis of accounting.  
 
Capital-related differences arise because governmental funds report capital outlays as current 
period expenditures, whereas government-wide statements report depreciation as an expense.  
Further, governmental funds report the proceeds from the sale of capital assets as an other 
financing source, whereas government-wide statements report the gain or loss from the sale of 
capital assets as revenue or expense.  
 
Long-term debt transaction differences arise because governmental funds report proceeds of 
long-term debt as an other financing source and principal payments as expenditures, whereas 
government-wide statements report those transactions as increases and decreases in liabilities. 
 
III.  STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
A.  Budgetary Information 
 
The General Fund Budget is approved at the annual Village Meeting in April.  Budget transfers 
between departments can be made upon the approval of the Trustees during the last three (3) 
months of the year without increasing the total appropriated amount. 

 
Enterprise fund budgets are approved by the Board of Trustees. 
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B.  Budgeted Deficit 
 
The Village budgeted a current year’s deficiency of revenues over expenditures in the amount of 
$35,000 in the General Fund in order to utilize a portion of previous years surplus.  This amount 
is reflected as a budgeted deficiency of revenue over expenditures in Exhibit F. 
 
C.  Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2013, expenditures in the General Fund exceeded appropriations by 
$667.  This was funded by unbudgeted grant revenues. 
 
D.  Fund Balance Policy  
 
At the April, 2011 annual meeting, the Voters approved maintaining an unassigned fund balance 
of no more than ten percent (10%) of the prior year’s budget. 
 
IV.  DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 
 
A.  Deposits and Investments 
 
The Village’s Trustees have established an investment policy which indicates which types of 
investments the Village can own.  There are no outside restrictions on the types of investments 
the Village may invest in. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to 
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The custodial credit 
risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of failure of the counter-party (e.g. broker-
dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or 
collateral securities that are in possession of another party.  The Village’s policy only allows 
deposits in banks that are FDIC insured and agree to collateralize amounts in excess of FDIC 
limits. 

Book Bank
Balance Balance

FDIC Insured $ 353,390 $ 353,390
Uninsured, Collateralized by U.S. Government 
Securities, Federal Agency Issued Mortgage 
Backed Securities and/or General Obligation 
Vermont Municipal Notes and Bonds Held by the 
Bank's Trust Department with a Security Interest 
Granted to the Village 3,561,283 3,834,597
Petty Cash 225

$ 3,914,898 $ 4,187,987
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The difference between the book and the bank balance is due to reconciling items such as 
deposits in transit and outstanding checks.   

 
Interest Rate Risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its 
fair value to changes in market interest rates.  As of June 30, 2013, the Village is not exposed to 
interest rate risk. 

 
Credit Risk  

 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the 
holder of the investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally 
recognized statistical rating organization.  The Village’s policy does not allow investment in 
securities that are subject to credit risk unless issued by the Federal Government.  As of June 30, 
2013, the Village is not exposed to credit risk. 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 

 
The Village has no limit on the amount that they may invest with any one issuer.   As of June 30, 
2013, the Village is not exposed to concentration of credit risk. 
 
B.  Receivables 
 
Receivables at June 30, 2013, as reported in the statement of net position, net of applicable 
allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows: 
 

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

Current Taxes $ 17,607 $ 0 $ 17,607
Delinquent Taxes 8,555 0 8,555
Penalties and Interest 5,548 0 5,548
Billed Services 995 56,635 57,630
Unbilled Services 14,090 711,128 725,218
Grants 87,063 350 87,413
Other Governments 0 44,677 44,677
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (1,000) 0 (1,000)

$ 132,858 $ 812,790 $ 945,648
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C.  Note Receivable 
 
The Village has a note receivable as follows: 
 
Note Receivable – Whitcomb Terrace Housing  
 Limited Partnership, Principal Deferred Until 
 December 17, 2034, at Which Time the  
 Note is Due, Interest at 0%, Secured by a 
 2nd Position on Building $ 260,000 
 
Allowance for Receivable (260,000) 
 
Net Note Receivable $            0 
 
D.  Capital Assets 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows: 
 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Governmental Activities
Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated:
  Land $ 55,742 $ 0 $ 0 $ 55,742
  Construction in Progress 151,404 291,853 21,327 421,930
  Antiques and Works of Art 12,000 1,550 6,000 7,550
     Total Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated 219,146 293,403 27,327 485,222
  
Capital Assets,  Being Depreciated:
 Buildings and Building Improvements 1,870,964 0 0 1,870,964
 Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment, Furniture,
 and Traffic Signals 5,029,223 1,035,532 474,644 5,590,111
 Library Books 857,943 57,396 81,864 833,475
 Parks 210,984 0 0 210,984
 Roads, Curbs, Sidewalks and Storm Sewers 7,214,379 214,142 0 7,428,521
     Totals 15,183,493 1,307,070 556,508 15,934,055
Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Buildings and Building Improvements 589,413 43,994 0 633,407
  Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment, Furniture,
  and Traffic Signals 1,899,194 234,189 389,536 1,743,847
  Library Books 613,826 71,689 81,864 603,651
  Parks 16,613 2,578 0 19,191
  Roads, Curbs, Sidewalks and Storm Sewers 1,177,721 267,839 0  1,445,560
     Totals 4,296,767 620,289 471,400 4,445,656
     Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 10,886,726  686,781  85,108  11,488,399
Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net $ 11,105,872 $ 980,184 $ 112,435 $ 11,973,621
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Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Business-Type Activities
Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated:
  Land $ 118,077 $ 0 $ 0 $ 118,077
  Construction in Progress 1,327,124  9,435,431 475,959 10,286,596
     Total Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated 1,445,201 9,435,431 475,959 10,404,673
  
Capital Assets,  Being Depreciated:
  Buildings and Building Improvements 8,343,215 0 0 8,343,215
  Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment and Furniture 2,990,692 224,799 186,412 3,029,079
  Infrastructure 45,539 0 0 45,539
  Distribution and Collection Systems 14,941,337 1,307,158 0 16,248,495
     Totals 26,320,783 1,531,957 186,412 27,666,328

Less Accumulated Depreciation for:
  Buildings and Building Improvements 4,259,151 168,047 0 4,427,198
  Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment and Furniture 1,346,388 163,672 147,401 1,362,659
  Infrastructure 17,077 2,277 0 19,354
  Distribution and Collection Systems 11,548,669 186,371 0 11,735,040
     Totals 17,171,285 520,367 147,401 17,544,251
     Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 9,149,498 1,011,590 39,011 10,122,077
Business-Type Activities Capital Assets, Net $ 10,594,699 $ 10,447,021 $ 514,970 $ 20,526,750

 
 

Depreciation was charged as follows: 
 
Governmental Activities: Business - Type Activities:

General Government $ 19,618 Water $ 94,477
Public Safety 67,057 Sanitation 133,809
Community Development 642 Wastewater 292,081
Public Works 417,730
Culture and Recreation 115,242  

Total Depreciation 
Expense - Governmental 
Activities $ 620,289

Total Depreciation Expense 
- Business-Type Activities $ 520,367
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E.  Interfund Balances and Activity 
 
The composition of interfund balances at June 30, 2013 are as follows: 
 

Fund

General Fund $ 22 $ 0
Sanitation Fund 13,841 0
Wastewater Fund 0 13,863
 
Total $ 13,863 $ 13,863

Other Funds
Due from Due to

Other Funds

 
The Interfund transfers during the year ended June 30, 2013 were as follows: 
 
Transfer From Transfer To Amount Purpose

General Fund Rolling Stock Reserve Fund $ 163,624 Annual Appropriation
General Fund Rolling Stock Reserve Fund 50,000   Half Penny for Ladder Truck Note
General Fund Capital Reserve Fund 372,788 Annual Appropriation
Wastewater Fund Sanitation Fund 13,780   Fund WWTF Future Capital Projects
Sanitation Fund Wastewater Fund 40,062   Pay Bond Debt Service

Total $ 640,254

 
F.  Unearned Revenue 
 
Unearned revenue in the General Fund consists of $1,428 of grant revenue received in advance. 
 
G.  Deferred Inflows of Resources 
 
Deferred inflows of resources in the General Fund consists of $28,400 of delinquent property 
taxes, penalties and interest on those taxes and $8,016 of other revenues that were not collected 
within sixty (60) days after year-end as these would not be available to liquidate current 
liabilities.  It also includes $1,658 of prepaid property taxes.  Total deferred inflows of resources 
in the General Fund is $38,074. 
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Deferred inflows of resources in the Capital Reserve Fund consist of $47,144 of grant revenue 
not collected within sixty (60) days after year-end as these would not be available to liquidate 
current liabilities. 
 
H.  Long-term Liabilities 
 
General Obligation Bonds - The Village issues general obligation bonds to provide resources for 
the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities and to refund prior issues.  General 
obligation bonds have been issued for proprietary activities.  Bonds are reported in governmental 
activities if the debt is expected to be repaid from general governmental revenues and in 
business-type (proprietary) activities if the debt is expected to be repaid from proprietary fund 
revenues.  
 
General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the Village. 
New bonds generally are issued as 10 to 30 year bonds.  Refunding bonds are issued for various 
terms based on the debt service of the debt refunded. 
 
Notes Payable - The Village has notes payable to finance various capital projects and purchases 
through local banks and the State of Vermont Municipal Equipment Loan Fund. 

 
No-Interest Revolving Loans  - The State of Vermont offers a number of no and low interest 
revolving loan programs to utilize for predetermined purposes.  The Village has borrowed money 
from the Vermont Special Environmental Revolving Fund for sanitation and wastewater projects. 
 
Compensated Absences – Unused vacation time can be accumulated up to 240 hours as of an 
employee’s anniversary date.  Compensatory time for hourly employees can be accrued up to 
160 hours and for salaried employees up to 120 hours at any time. Employees with more than 15 
years of service to the Village will be paid for half of their accumulated sick hours in excess of 
800 hours at their current rate of pay upon retirement, termination or death. 

 
Long-term liabilities outstanding as of June 30, 2013 were as follows: 
 
 
Governmental Activities: 
     Beginning        Ending 
       Balance          Balance 
     July 1, 2012 Additions Deletions June 30, 2013 
Note Payable - State of Vermont 
 Municipal Equipment Loan Fund,  
 Fire truck Purchase, Interest at 2%, 
 $22,000 Due Annually Plus 
 Interest, Due and Paid June, 2013 $ 22,000 $            0 $22,000 $         0 
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     Beginning        Ending 
       Balance          Balance 
     July 1, 2012 Additions Deletions June 30, 2013 
 
Note Payable – Merchants Bank, 
 Current Expense Note, 
 Fire Ladder Truck Purchase,  
 Interest at 1.31%, $250,000 
 Due July 30, 2013, the Village 
 Intends to Renew the Note 
 Annually and Pay $50,000 Plus 
 Interest Annually $          0 $250,000 $         0 $250,000 
 
Total Governmental Activities $ 22,000 $250,000 $22,000 $250,000 
 

 
     Beginning        Ending 
       Balance          Balance 
     July 1, 2012 Additions Deletions June 30, 2013 
 
Business-Type Activities 
 
Note Payable – Peoples United Bank, 
 Wastewater Deficit Funding Note, 
 Interest at 3.25%, $50,000 
 Plus Interest Due Annually, 
 Due June, 2014   $  100,000     $          0 $50,000 $      50,000 
 
Note Payable – State of Vermont 
 Special Environmental Revolving 
 Fund, Sanitation and Wastewater  
 Improvements, Authorized to  
 $566,938 but was Eligible for 50% 
 Forgiveness, Interest at 0%,  
 an Administration fee of 2% is  
 Assessed Annually, Annual  
 Payments of $17,336, Due  
 October, 2030      271,802 0   11,900 259,902 
 
Note Payable – State of Vermont 
 Special Environmental Revolving 
 Fund, Wastewater Improvements, 
 Authorized to $8,828,200, Interest 
 at 0%, Payments of $55,213 Begin 
 February, 2017, Due   
 February, 2031         820,613 6,215,861 0 7,036,474 
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     Beginning        Ending 
       Balance          Balance 
     July 1, 2012 Additions Deletions June 30, 2013 
Note Payable – State of Vermont 
 Special Environmental Revolving 
 Fund, Sanitation Pump Station Im- 
provements, Authorized to $1,212,300 
But Eligible for $114,800 Subsidy  
Leaving a Total Repayment Amount of 
 $1,097,500, Interest at 0%, an  
 Administration Fee of 2% is Assessed  
 Annually, Payments of $67,120 Begin  
 February, 2014, Due  
 November, 2033    $  115,900 $  977,696 $           0 $  1,093,596 
 
Bond Payable – Vermont Municipal 
Bond Bank Series 2010-5 New Money 
(Recovery Zone Economic Development 
Bond) Wastewater Improvements, 
Annual Principal Payments Ranging from  
 $55,000 to $60,000 Due December 1,  
 Semi-Annual Interest Payments Due  
 June 1 and December 1, Net Interest  
Cost of 3.345%, 30 Year Bond Assumed  
from the Town of Bradford, Due, 
 December, 2040    1,645,000               0    60,000  1,585,000 
 
Total Business-Type Activities $2,953,315 $7,193,557 $121,900 $10,024,972 
 
Compensated Absences are paid by the applicable fund where the employee is charged. 
 
Changes in all long-term liabilities during the year were as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental Activities
Notes Payable $ 22,000 $ 250,000 $ 22,000 $ 250,000 $ 50,000
Compensated Absences 156,159 0 16,335 139,824 0

     Total Governmental Activities  
        Long-Term Liabilities 178,159 250,000 38,335 389,824 $ 50,000

Business-type Activities  
Notes Payable 1,308,315 7,193,557 61,900 8,439,972 62,138
Bonds Payable 1,645,000 0 60,000 1,585,000 60,000
Compensated Absences 52,551 5,674 0 58,225 0

     Total Business-type Activities  
        Long-Term Liabilities $ 3,005,866 $ 7,199,231 $ 121,900 $ 10,083,197 $ 122,138
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Maturities of notes and bonds payable are anticipated to be as follows: 
 

Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest

2014 $ 50,000       $ 3,255          $ 122,138      $ 54,741
2015 50,000 2,620 117,390      73,907
2016 50,000 1,965 408,135      212,513
2017 50,000 1,310 415,098      204,451
2018 50,000 655 422,201      194,657
2019-2023 0 0 2,217,602   845,386
2024-2028 0 0 2,397,711   601,596
2029-2033 0 0 2,583,622   332,966
2034-2038 0 0 1,176,075 81,143
2039-2042 0 0 165,000 8,982

  
Total $ 250,000 $ 9,805 $ 10,024,972 $ 2,610,342

Business-Type ActivitiesGovernmental Activities

 
I.   Fund Balances 
 
GASB Statement No. 34, as amended by GASB Statement No. 54, requires fund balances 
reported on the governmental fund balance sheet to be classified using a hierarchy based 
primarily on the extent to which a government is bound to honor constraints on the specific 
purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent.   
 
Governmental fund balances are to be classified as: nonspendable (not in spendable form or 
legally required to remain intact); restricted (constraints on the use of resources are either 
externally imposed by creditors, grantors or donors, or imposed by law through enabling 
legislation); committed (constraints on the use of resources are imposed by formal action of the 
voters); assigned (reflecting the Board of Trustee’s intended use of the resources); and 
unassigned. 
 
Special revenue funds are created only to report a revenue source (or sources) that is restricted or 
committed to a specified purpose, and that the revenue source should constitute a substantial 
portion of the resources reported in that fund.  Special revenue funds cannot be used to 
accumulate funds that are not restricted or committed.  These amounts will have to be reflected 
in the General Fund.   
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Amounts constrained to stabilization will be reported as restricted or committed fund balance in 
the General Fund if they meet the other criteria for those classifications.  However, stabilization 
is regarded as a specified purpose only if the circumstances or conditions that signal the need for 
stabilization (a) are identified in sufficient detail and (b) are not expected to occur routinely.  
Governments are required to disclose in the notes key information about their stabilization 
arrangements, including the authority by which they were established, provisions for additions to 
the stabilization amount, and circumstances under which those amounts may be spent.  The 
Village does not have any stabilization arrangements. 
    
Some governments create stabilization-like arrangements by establishing formal minimum fund 
balance policies.  Because users are interested in information about those minimum fund balance 
policies and how governments comply with them, governments are required to explain their 
minimum fund balance policies, if they have them, in notes to the financial statements.  The 
Village does have a minimum fund balance policy which is to maintain an unassigned fund 
balance which is no greater than ten percent (10%) of the prior year’s budget. 
 
When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted amounts 
are available, it is the Village’s policy to first consider restricted amounts to have been spent, 
followed by committed, assigned, and finally unassigned amounts.  
   
The purpose for each major special revenue fund – including which specific revenues and other 
resources are authorized to be reported in each are described in the following section. 
 
The fund balances in the following fund are nonspendable as follows: 

 
  Major Funds 
 

General Fund: 
 

 Nonspendable Inventories $ 59,728 
 Nonspendable Prepaid Expenses  30,269 
 
        Total General Fund  $ 89,997 
 

The fund balance in the following fund is restricted as follows: 
 
 Restricted for Veterans Memorial Park by Donation  
  (Source of Revenue is Donations) $  5,424 
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The fund balances in the following funds are committed as follows: 
 
Capital Projects Funds 
 
 Committed for Capital Projects  $455,938 
 Committed for Rolling Stock      280,542 
 Committed for Land Acquisition 100,245 
 
 Total Committed Fund Balances $836,725 
   
The fund balance in the following fund is assigned as follows: 
 
Major Funds: 
 
General Fund 
 
 Assigned to Reduce Property Taxes Raised in 
  Fiscal Year 2014  $  35,000 
 Assigned for Library Book Replacement  2,494 
 Assigned for Termination Benefits  66,965 
 Assigned for Landscaping  3,600 
 Assigned for Health Reimbursement Arrangement Expenses    10,000   
  
    Total General Fund   118,059  
 
    Total Assigned Fund Balance   $118,059 
 
J.  Restricted Net Position 
 
The restricted net position as of June 30, 2013 is as follows: 
 
         Governmental Activities: 
 
 Restricted for Veterans Memorial Park by Donation $     5,424 
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K.  Designated Net Position 
 
The designated net position of the Village as of June 30, 2013 are as follows: 
 
Water Fund 
 
 Designated for Water Fund Expenditures $    292,248 
 Designated for Water Fund Capital Expenditures       26,164 
 
    Total Water Fund     318,412 
 
Sanitation Fund 
 
 Designated for Sanitation Fund Expenditures    220,781 
 Designated for Sanitation Fund Capital Expenditures    585,585 
                     Designated for Wastewater Treatment Facility Upgrades     364,423 
 
    Total Sanitation Fund   1,170,789 
 
Wastewater Fund 
 
 Designated for Wastewater Fund Capital Expenditures 372,190 
          Designated for Wastewater Fund Expenditures         290,062  

  Amount Designated in Excess of Available Net Position for  
     Refurbishment Project    (2,754,880) 

 
    Total Wastewater Fund   (2,092,628) 
 
   Total Designated Net Assets $   (603,427) 
 
The $2,754,880 designated deficit in the Wastewater Fund will be funded by reimbursements 
from the State Clean Water Revolving Loan Fund. 
 
V.  OTHER INFORMATION 
 
A.  BENEFIT PLANS 
 
The Village offers a 401(a) pension plan to all full time employees with 100% vesting after three 
(3) years of service.  This plan qualifies, according to the Internal Revenue Service, as a defined 
contribution pension plan for governmental organizations exempt from income taxes.  The plan 
requires a 5% contribution of base pay from the employee with a 10% match of base pay by the 
Village for all employees except the former Village Manager who received 15% of base pay for 
period he was employed by the Village in FY13.  The International City/County Management 
Association "ICMA" Retirement Corporation administers the Plan. All of the investments are 
self-directed by each employee. The total payroll for the year was $1,705,264 while the covered 
payroll was $1,490,349.  Pension expenses for the years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011 
were $159,765, $133,348, and $128,031 respectively. 
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The Village also offers its employees a deferred compensation plan through the International 
City/County Management Association "ICMA" Retirement Corporation in accordance with 
Internal Revenue Code Section 457.  The plan permits employees to defer a portion of their 
salary until future years.  Deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, 
retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency.   The Village has no liability for losses under the 
plan but does have the duty of due care that would be required of an ordinary prudent investor.  
All of the investments are self-directed by each employee. The balance of the assets in the plan, 
at fair market value, as of June 30, 2013 was $666,763. 
 
The Village also offers its employees a Cafeteria Plan in accordance with Internal Revenue Code 
Section 125.  This allows employees to pay for health benefits and dependent care pre-tax and 
pre-social security. 
 
All Village employees receive a $50,000 group life insurance policy.   
 
B.  CONCENTRATION OF REVENUE/EXPENSES 
 
The Village receives a major portion of its revenue from International Business Machines 
"IBM".  For the year ended June 30, 2013, the Village received 12.3% of total property taxes 
from IBM and received 72.9% of total water sales from IBM. 
 
The Village purchased a major portion of their water from Champlain Water District “CWD” for 
the year ended June 30, 2013.  The Village purchased $2,537,051 in water from CWD. 
 
C.  PROPERTY TAXES 
 
The Village is responsible for assessing and collecting its own property taxes, as well as 
education property taxes for the State and recreation property taxes for the School District.  
Property taxes are assessed based on property valuations as of April 1, the approved budgets and 
the State education property tax liability.  Taxes are collected two (2) times per year.  During the 
tax year ended June 30, 2013, taxes became due and payable on September 17, 2012 and March 
15, 2013.  The Village assesses an 8% penalty on delinquent taxes and interest is assessed at 1% 
per month.  Unpaid taxes become an enforceable lien on the property, and such properties are 
subject to tax sale.  The tax rates for fiscal year 2013 are as follows: 
 
                                                  Residential     Non-Residential 
  
 Village         .2554                .2554 
 Education    1.3276                 1.3665 
 Recreation     .0651 .0651 
 
     Total  $1.6481       $1.6870 
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D.  RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Village of Essex Junction is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage 
to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  
The Village of Essex Junction maintains insurance coverage through the Vermont League of 
Cities and Towns Property and Casualty Intermunicipal Fund, Inc. covering each of those risks 
of loss.  Management believes such coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured 
losses to the Village of Essex Junction.  Settled claims have not exceeded this coverage in any of 
the past three fiscal years.  The Village must remain a member for a minimum of one year and 
may withdraw from the Fund after that time by giving sixty days notice.  Fund underwriting and 
ratesetting policies have been established after consultation with actuaries. Fund members are 
subject to a supplemental assessment in the event of deficiencies.  If the assets of the Fund were 
to be exhausted, members would be responsible for the Fund’s liabilities. 
 
The Village of Essex Junction is also a member of the Vermont League of Cities and Towns 
Unemployment Insurance Trust.  The Unemployment Trust is a nonprofit corporation formed to 
provide unemployment coverage for Vermont municipalities and is owned by the participating 
members.  The agreement does not permit the Unemployment Trust to make additional 
assessments to its members. 
 
E.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
The Village is a participating member in the Chittenden Solid Waste District (CSWD) and 
Champlain Water District (CWD).  The Village could be subject to a portion of the two district’s 
debt if the districts experience financial problems. 
 
F.  OTHER 
 
The Village is in the process of refurbishing its Wastewater Treatment Facility. The Village 
owns the facility, however, the facility serves three municipalities; the Village of Essex Junction, 
the Town of Essex and the Town of Williston.  The Village has an agreement with the Towns to 
provide capacity and treatment rights in exchange for an annual fee and for their share of the 
improvements.  The cost of the project, estimated to be around $15,230,000, will be paid for with 
borrowed funds from the State of Vermont Special Environmental Loan Fund, a general 
obligation bond and from capital reserves.  The debt service cost will be shared amongst all three 
municipalities based upon the capacity owned by each.  Currently, the Village owns 36.06%, the 
Town of Essex owns 33.33% and the Town of Williston owns 30.61%.  The Village also has an 
agreement with the Town of Williston to sell them an additional 10,000  gallons per day of 
capacity for $100,000 per year for the next three (3) years which will increase the Town of 
Williston’s capacity and decrease the Village’s capacity.  The Town of Williston has already 
paid $200,000 for 20,000 gallons over the past two years.  The sale of this capacity will also 
change the debt service percentages as noted previously.  After the 2016 final sale, the Village’s 
percentage will be 35.46% and the Town of Williston’s will be 31.21%  
 
The Village purchased a fire ladder truck during the year costing in excess of $800,000.  The 
Town of Essex voters approved giving the Village of Essex $300,000 toward this truck. 
$100,000 was received during fiscal year 2013 and the other $200,000 will be received over the 
next three (3) years.   
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G.  AUTHORIZED BORROWING 
 
In June, 2011, the Village voters authorized the borrowing of up to $3,200,000 contingent upon 
other Federal and State aid for the purpose of making public improvements to the Village 
highways and sidewalks.  The total estimated cost of such improvements is $11,531,000.  No 
action has taken place as of June 30, 2013. 
 
In April, 2013, the Village Voters authorized the financing of $15,230,000 in wastewater 
upgrades and $1,287,000 in sanitation upgrades. 
 
H.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
As of February 15, 2014, an additional $4,717,399 in Clean Water State Revolving Loan funds 
had been borrowed for the refurbishment of the wastewater treatment facility.  
 

 
 
 



Schedule 1

Land
Veterans Acquisition
Memorial Capital  

Park Reserve  
Fund Fund Total 

ASSETS

Cash $ 5,424 $ 100,245 $ 105,669

     Total Assets $ 5,424 $ 100,245 $ 105,669

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:

     Total Liabilities $ 0 $ 0 $ 0

Fund Balances:
Restricted 5,424 0 5,424
Committed 0 100,245 100,245

     Total Fund Balances 5,424  100,245 105,669

     Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 5,424 $ 100,245 $ 105,669

See Disclaimer in Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.
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Schedule 2

Land
Veterans Acquisition
Memorial Capital  

Park Reserve  
Fund Fund Total 

Revenues:
Contributions $ 630             $ 0 $ 630             
Interest 10                200  210

     Total Revenues 640 200 840

Expenditures: 0 0 0

Excess of Revenues Over 
 Expenditures 640 200 840

Net Change in Fund Balances 640 200 840

Fund Balances - July 1, 2012 4,784 100,045 104,829

Fund Balances - June 30, 2013 $ 5,424 $ 100,245 $ 105,669

See Disclaimer in Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.
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VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS



 Schedule 3

   Variance
   Favorable

Budget  Actual (Unfavorable)
Revenue:

Water Sales - Village $ 761,109 $ 784,455 $ 23,346
Water Sales - IBM  2,081,376 2,068,461 (12,915)
Water Sales - IBM Vermont Tax 41,931 50,947 9,016
Water Sales - Large Users 73,628 74,305 677
Hydrant Rentals 5,000 5,000 0
Penalties 3,500 4,129 629

 Miscellaneous 15,000 19,022 4,022
Interest Earnings  0 104 104

Total Revenue 2,981,544 3,006,423 24,879

Expenses:
Salaries -  Regular 94,843 95,449 (606)
Salaries - Overtime 13,843 13,090 753
Salaries - Part-time 6,311 4,365 1,946
Social Security 8,843 8,420 423
Unemployment Insurance 564 482 82
Workers Compensation Insurance 4,243 4,667 (424)
Health Insurance and Other Benefits 41,332 33,805 7,527
Retirement 9,484 9,400 84
Liability and Property Insurance 2,748 2,549 199
Interest Expense 100 49 51
Supplies 6,000 2,092 3,908
Postage 750 824 (74)
Gas, Oil and Grease 2,800 1,776 1,024
Meters and Parts 3,960 (215) 4,175
Distribution Materials 8,000 890 7,110
Computer Expenses 600 1,198 (598)
Water & Sewer Charges 300 270 30
Training and Conferences 2,000 926 1,074
Electrical Service 650 665 (15)
Heat 3,500 2,908 592
Maintenance - Other 1,500 1,107 393
Water Line Maintenance - Breaks 16,000 13,898 2,102
Uniforms and Boots 1,000 1,113 (113)
Contract Services 110,169 110,169 0
Other Professional Services 1,500 704 796
Audit Services 3,151 3,197 (46)
Water Purchases - Village 403,909 407,603 (3,694)
Water Purchases - IBM 2,081,376 2,068,461 12,915
Printing and Advertising 2,000 1,509 491
Transfer to Capital Reserve 100,000 103,581 (3,581)
State Water Tax - Village 8,137 10,040 (1,903)
State Water Tax - IBM 41,931 50,947 (9,016)

 
Total Expenses 2,981,544 2,955,939 25,605

Net Income $ 0  50,484 $ 50,484

Adjustments to Reconcile to GAAP Basis Statements:
Non-budgetary Operating Expenses (7,211)
Capital Reserve Fund Transfer 103,581
Interest Earned on Capital Reserve Fund 102
Depreciation (94,477)

Change in Net Position - Exhibit H $ 52,479

See Disclaimer in Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.
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 Schedule 4  

   Variance
   Favorable

Budget  Actual (Unfavorable)
Revenue:

Sanitation Billing $ 383,846 $ 467,414 $ 83,568
Sanitation Penalty 1,800 2,351 551
Essex Pump Station Fees 25,075 18,339 (6,736)
2 Party Agreement Revenue 15,000 15,000 0
Miscellaneous 20,000 107,731 87,731
Interest Earnings 0 197  197

Total Revenue 445,721 611,032 165,311

Expenses:
Salaries -  Regular 89,579 82,611 6,968
Salaries - Overtime 14,100 7,834 6,266
Salaries - Part Time 9,461 5,068 4,393
Social Security 8,701 6,830 1,871
Unemployment Insurance 564 540 24
Workers Compensation Insurance 4,047 3,828 219
Health Insurance and Other Benefits 25,235 32,272 (7,037)
Retirement 8,958 8,309 649
Liability and Property Insurance 6,091 5,255 836
Supplies 500 435 65
Postage 1,500 1,633 (133)
Gas, Grease and Oil 3,000 2,817 183
Meters and Parts 8,040 0 8,040
Computer Expenses 1,000 2,397 (1,397)
Water and Sewer Charge 1,000 142 858
Training and Conferences 500 0 500
Electrical Service 8,200 9,422 (1,222)
Heating/Natural Gas 0 1,733 (1,733)
Maintenance - Other 1,500 404 1,096
Pump Station Maintenance 5,500 3,223 2,277
Sanitation Lines Maintenance 5,000 6,710 (1,710)
Susie Wilson Pump Station Costs 8,000 5,805 2,195
West St. Pump Station Costs 13,500 8,445 5,055
Uniforms, Boots, Etc. 1,000 584 416
Contractual Services 134,969 134,969 0
Right-Of-Way Agreements 8,200 7,902 298
Sanitation Line Backup Cleaning 0 1,654 (1,654)
Other Professional Services 1,000 179 821
Audit Services 1,576 1,598 (22)
Capital Reserve Fund Contributions 75,000 162,000 (87,000)

Total Expenses 445,721 504,599 (58,878)

Net Income $ 0  106,433 $ 106,433

Adjustments to Reconcile to GAAP Basis Statements:
Non-budgetary Operating Expenses (9,921)       
Sale of Asset 3,500
Admin Fee on ARRA Loan (4,666)       
Interest Earned on Capital Reserve Fund 1,366        
Sale of WWTF Capacity 100,000    
Capital Grants and Contributions received 102,690    
Transfers from WWTF Fund 13,780      
Transfers to WWTF Fund (40,062)     
Capital Reserve Fund Transfer 162,000    
Depreciation (133,809)   

Change in Net Position - Exhibit H $ 301,311    

See Disclaimer in Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES
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BUDGET (NON GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL
SANITATION FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013



Schedule 5
Page 1 of 2

Variance
Favorable

Budget  Actual (Unfavorable)
Revenue:

Village User Charges $ 636,542 $ 664,392 $ 27,850
Village User Penalties 2,800 3,402 602
Wastewater Charge - Essex 406,156 406,156 0
Wastewater Charge - Williston 536,126 536,126 0
Pump Station Maintenance Fee 24,800 24,800 0
Village Septage Discharge Income 25,000 34,714 9,714
Shared Septage Revenue 14,000 19,527 5,527
Village Leachate Revenues 18,000 22,066 4,066
Shared Leachate Revenues 10,125 12,412 2,287
Interest 0 47 47
Miscellaneous 0 955 955

Total Revenue 1,673,549 1,724,597 51,048

Expenses:
Salaries -  Regular 281,639 265,911 15,728
Salaries - Overtime 29,187 38,454 (9,267)
Salaries - Part-Time 30,000 9,724 20,276
Social Security 26,203 23,076 3,127
Unemployment Insurance 1,364 1,116 248
Workers Compensation Insurance 12,350 11,597 753
Health Insurance and Other Benefits 129,319 99,286 30,033
Retirement 28,164 25,412 2,752
Liability and Property Insurance 22,174 18,934 3,240
Interest Expense 300 160 140
Supplies 15,000 19,570 (4,570)
Chemicals 185,000 184,638 362
Gas, Grease and Oil 6,000 5,209 791
Water and Sewer Charge 4,000 4,150 (150)
Training and Conferences 5,000 4,455 545
Telephone Services  4,300 3,689  611
Electrical Service 144,129 183,506 (39,377)
Heating 6,000 10,833 (4,833)
Maintenance - Other 76,000 62,306 13,694
Vehicles Maintenance - Travel 3,500 1,128 2,372
Uniforms, Boots, Etc. 3,500 2,916 584
Contract Laboratory Service 8,000 4,965 3,035
Contract Services 55,085 55,085 0
Legal Services 2,000 1,007 993
Grit Disposal 7,000 9,185 (2,185)

See Disclaimer in Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.
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Schedule 5
Page 2 of 2

Variance
Favorable

Budget  Actual (Unfavorable)
Expenses:
 (Cont'd)

Sludge Dewatering $ 179,000 $ 170,647 $ 8,353
Sludge Management 170,400 109,829 60,571
Other Professional Services 5,000 264 4,736
Audit Services 3,685 3,753 (68)
WWTF Annual Permit Fee 7,000 5,129 1,871
Capital Reserve Fund Contributions 150,000 150,000 0
Loan Payment 53,250 53,023 227
Capital Outlay 0 6,382 (6,382)

Total Expenses 1,653,549 1,545,339 108,210

Net Income $ 20,000 179,258 $ 159,258

Adjustments to Reconcile to GAAP Basis Statements:
Transfer from Sanitation Fund 40,062
Transfer to Sanitation Fund (13,780)
Purchases of Equipment 7,379
Non-budgetary Operating Expenses (46,986)
Paydown of Loan Principal 50,000
Admin Fee on ARRA Loan (770)
Interest Payment on RZEDB Bond (50,097)
Loss on Disposal of Capital Asset (7,040)
Capital Reserve Fund Transfer 150,000
Capital Contributions Received 543,143
Interest Earned on Capital Reserve Fund 3,581
Depreciation (292,081)

Change in Net Position - Exhibit H $ 562,669

See Disclaimer in Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

VILLAGE OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES

WASTEWATER FUND
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BUDGET (NON GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL



 

 

 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 

Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance  
with “Government Auditing Standards” 

 
 
Board of Trustees 
Village of Essex Junction 
2 Lincoln Street 
Essex Junction, VT 05452-3685 
 
 We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in “Government 
Auditing Standards”, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2013 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s basic financial statements, and have issued our 
report thereon dated February 5, 2014 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
 In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the 
Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to 
determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Village of Essex Junction, 
Vermont’s internal control. 
 
 A deficiency in internal controls exists when the design or operation of a control does 
not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, 
to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit the attention of those charged with 
governance. 
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Village of Essex Junction, Vermont -2- 
 

 
 

 Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section, and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that 
might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  In addition, because of inherent 
limitations in internal control, including the possibility of management override of controls, 
misstatements due to error, or fraud may occur and not be detected by such controls.  Given these 
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider 
to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
 As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Village of Essex 
Junction, Vermont’s financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, 
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial 
statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not 
an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
“Government Auditing Standards”.   
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
 The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s internal control or on compliance.  This 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with “Government Auditing 
Standards” in considering the Village of Essex Junction, Vermont’s internal control and 
compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
February 5, 2014 
Montpelier, Vermont 
VT Lic. #92-000180 
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EDITH KLIMOSKI 

Edith Klimoski, the director of Give Way to Freedom since its founding, has earned a Bachelor of Arts 
degree in Biology with a concentration in Women’s Studies, College of the Holy Cross, and a Master of 
Science degree in Environmental Science, University of Wisconsin — Green Bay. Edith composed and 
was awarded four grants: one from the State of Wisconsin for a recycling/Habitat for Humanity project, 
and three from Rotary International for various global initiatives to assist disadvantaged youth. She is 
also currently Chair of the International Committee for the Rotary Club of Essex, Vermont and was a 
member of the Town of Essex Zoning Board for four years. 

 

What We Do 

Give Way To Freedom provides victim care services to the survivors of human trafficking and increases 
awareness of human trafficking through education, training and research. 

We work with other charities and organizations to provide safe and supportive environments where 
victims of trafficking can receive services and the support and advocacy needed to re-enter mainstream 
society in a healthy and productive way. Our projects are culturally relevant to the specific communities 
they serve. 

We are an efficient, dynamic and practical organization partnering with like-minded groups within the 
United States as well as other parts of the world. These associations foster long-term relationships 
which maximize our projects’ success rates. 

We provide training and outreach programs to victim service providers, social workers, law 
enforcement, the medical and legal communities, service organizations, secondary schools, universities 
and colleges. We enhance victim care services such as safe housing, physical and mental healthcare and 
access to education and vocational training. 

Give Way to Freedom strategizes for its work by participating in several notable conferences and 
symposiums each year, either by our president being a speaker or a panel member, assisting in 
organizing the event, or simply attending. Through engagement and collaboration with other non-profit 
organizations, federal &state victim services agencies, and federal & state law enforcement our work 
remains on the forefront. 

It is the policy of Give Way to Freedom to give funding priority to projects in which no more than 5% of 
the monies contributed go to the overhead of the recipient organization. 

 

www.givewaytofreedom.org 

 

http://www.givewaytofreedom.org/
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MEMORANDUM 
 
 

TO:  Village Trustees 
FROM:  Pat Scheidel, Village Manager 
DATE:  February 11, 2014   
SUBJECT: Trustees Meeting Schedule  
 
 

TRUSTEES MEETING SCHEDULE/EVENTS                                                                                                                                                             
 
Note:  We need to schedule a special meeting to adopt the Warning for a Special Village Election. 
February 25 at 6:30 – Regular Trustees Meeting 

• Public hearing on Multiuse Safety Path 
• Adopt Annual Meeting Warning 

March 11 at 6:30 – Regular Trustees Meeting 
• Annual Meeting preparation 

March 25 at 6:30 – Regular Trustees Meeting 
• Annual Meeting preparation 

 April 2 at 6:00 PM – Community Supper 
April 2 at 7:00 – Annual Meeting 
 April 8, 7 AM to 7 PM – Australian Ballot Voting 
April 8 at 6:30 – Regular Trustees Meeting 
April 22 at 6:30 – Regular Trustees Meeting 

• Board reorganization 
May 13 at 6:30 – Regular Trustees Meeting 
 May 24 at 10 AM – Memorial Day Parade 
May 27 at 6:30 – Regular Trustees Meeting 
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